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Week VII:  Affirmative Claims of Religious Discrimination II:  The Belief/Conduct Distinction, Disparate Impact &Accommodations 
Overview Discussion Question

23.
The cases in this week’s materials all arguably involve restrictions on conduct rather than direct penalties on religious belief.  In each case, consider whether an accommodation or a disparate impact claim (or both) might be appropriate.  To get you started, the majority and dissenting opinions in Hack provide a good overview of the disparate impact cause of action.  As a matter of policy, in which case does the claimant have the strongest case for relief?  In which case, the weakest?
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 (A) Disparate Impact Analysis
Hack v. The President & Fellows of Yale College

237 F.3d 81 (2nd Cir. 2000)

MORAN, Senior District Judge:  Yale College (Yale) requires all unmarried freshmen and sophomores under the age of 21 to reside in college dormitories, all of which are co-educational. The plaintiffs were Yale freshmen and sophomores when they brought this suit. They represent that as devout Orthodox Jews they cannot reside in those dormitories because to do so would conflict with their religious convictions and duties. Plaintiffs contend … that Yale’s refusal to exempt religious observers from co-educational housing violates the Fair Housing Act, 41 U.S.C. § 3601 et seq.

The district court (Alfred V. Covello, C.J.) granted defendants’ motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, Hack v. President and Fellows of Yale College, 16 F.Supp.2d 183 (D.Conn. 1998), and plaintiffs appealed. We affirm, with this judge dissenting in part, as explained in section III.B.  …
III.  Plaintiffs … contend that Yale’s refusal to exempt religious observers from co-educational housing violates Title VIII of the Civil Rights Act of 1968, known as the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. § 3601 et seq. (“FHA” or “Title VIII”). The Fair Housing Act provides that “it shall be unlawful [t]o refuse to sell or rent ... or otherwise make unavailable or deny, a dwelling to any person because of ... religion.” 42 U.S.C. § 3604(a). The FHA also prohibits discrimination “in the terms, conditions, or privileges of sale or rental of a dwelling, or in the provision of services or facilities in connection therewith, because of ... religion.” 42 U.S.C. § 3604(b).

POOLER, Circuit Judge, with whom LEVAL, Circuit Judge, concurs (continuation of majority opinion):  B. Failure to State a Claim.  … [W]e must consider Yale’s contention that the students failed to state an FHA claim. We begin with the observation that plaintiffs allege no discriminatory intent on Yale’s part, no facially discriminatory policy, and no facts sufficient to constitute disparate impact discrimination.


“[T]he reach of the [FHA] was to replace the ghettos ‘by truly integrated and balanced living patterns.’” Trafficante v. Metropolitan Life Ins. Co., 409 U.S. 205, 211 (1972) (quoting 114 Cong. Rec. 3422 (1968) (remarks of Sen. Mondale, drafter of the FHA)); see also Huntington Branch, NAACP v. Town of Huntington, 844 F.2d 926, 936 (2d Cir.) aff’d in part, 488 U.S. 15 (1988)) (same). We have also said with respect to the FHA that “Congress intended that broad application of the anti-discrimination provisions would ultimately result in residential integration.” Town of Huntington, 844 F.2d at 936. This inclusive purpose is reflected in the statutory language. Insofar as it is relevant to this case, the FHA declares that it is unlawful (a) [t]o refuse to sell or rent . . . or otherwise make unavailable or deny, a dwelling to any person because of . . . religion . . . . [or] (b) [t]o discriminate against any person in the terms, conditions, or privileges of sale or rental of a dwelling, or in the provision of services or facilities in connection therewith, because of . . . religion . . . .” 42 U.S.C. §3604(a), (b) (emphases added). However, the FHA does not require a landlord or seller to provide a reasonable accommodation with respect to an individual applicant’s religion. See 42 U.S.C. § 3604(a)-(e). In summary, the FHA forbids those practices that make housing unavailable to persons on a discriminatory basis as well as discriminatory terms and conditions with respect to housing that is provided.


An FHA plaintiff may proceed on a theory of disparate intent or disparate impact. See LeBlanc-Sternberg v. Fletcher, 67 F.3d 412, 425 (2d Cir. 1995). Therefore, in order to state an FHA claim, plaintiffs must allege either that Yale adopted an identified policy that denied them housing or granted them housing on discriminatory terms and conditions for reasons that were, in significant part, discriminatory or that the identified policy although adopted for neutral reasons has a discriminatory impact on the availability of housing for Orthodox Jews or the terms and conditions on which the housing is offered.


In judging whether the students stated a claim under either a disparate treatment or a disparate impact theory, we must “look only to the allegations of the complaint[,] . . . assume all well-pleaded factual allegations to be true, and . . . view all reasonable inferences that can be drawn from such allegations . . . in the light most favorable to the plaintiff[s].” Dangler v. New York City Off Track Betting Corp., 193 F.3d 130, 138 (2d Cir. 1999) (internal citation omitted). We must find these allegations to be sufficient “unless it appears beyond doubt that [the students] can prove no set of facts in support of [their] claim which would entitle [them] to relief.” Conley v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41, 45- 46 (1957). This rule applies with special force to claims of civil rights violations. See Easton v. Sundram, 947 F.2d 1011, 1015 (2d Cir. 1991). Moreover, we may not affirm the dismissal of the students’ complaint because they have proceeded under the wrong theory “so long as [they have] alleged facts sufficient to support a meritorious legal claim.” Northrop v. Hoffman of Simsbury, Inc., 134 F.3d 41, 45-46 (2d Cir. 1997). However, plaintiffs must plead the requisite facts. See, e.g. Davidson v. Flynn, 32 F.3d 27, 31 (2d Cir. 1994) (dismissing prisoner’s procedural due process claim because he failed to allege particular due process violations).


Our first and most difficult task is identifying the practice that the students attack. According to the dissent, plaintiffs allege “that a facially neutral housing policy makes housing effectively unavailable to Orthodox Jews.” [Dissent at 17.] Starting with this premise, the dissent finds that plaintiffs have stated a disparate impact claim under the Fair Housing Act. Although plaintiffs certainly allude to the allegedly discriminatory impact of Yale’s lack of parietal rules, these allusions must be considered in light of the relief they requested. Plaintiffs do not ask us to force Yale to implement more conservative rules. Rather, they request only the following relief on their FHA claims: 
(1) “a declaratory judgment that Yale’s policy of refusing to grant religion-based exemptions to its on-campus housing requirement, as applied and implemented by the defendants, unconstitutionally burdens the free exercise of religion, discriminates against and on the basis of religion, and . . . that it therefore violates 42 U.S.C. § . . . 3604”; 
(2) an injunction prohibiting the defendants “from enforcing, in the future, Yale’s mandatory on-campus housing policy against students who cannot reside in such housing because of their religious convictions”; and 
(3) an order directing Yale to reimburse the plaintiffs for housing charges they paid under duress. 
These requests place the otherwise skeletal factual allegations of the amended complaint in perspective.


Of the three paragraphs in the FHA claim itself, the first merely incorporates by reference certain preceding factual allegations, and the second describes the applicable provisions of the FHA. Only the third paragraph describes plaintiffs’ theory of liability. It states:
By requiring the plaintiffs to pay for and live in rooms in co-educational residential colleges, despite the plaintiffs’ religious objections to the sexual immodesty prevalent in Yale’s dormitories, and by refusing to accommodate the plaintiffs’ religious obligations, the defendants have discriminated against the plaintiffs, because of their religion, in the terms and conditions of a rental of a dwelling and in the provision of housing, in violation of the Fair Housing Act.

Am. Compl. ¶ 99. Among the incorporated factual allegations arguably relevant to the FHA claim is the students’ contention that Yale allows other freshmen and sophomores to reside off campus for reasons such as age or marital status but refuses to allow an exception to its policy for religious reasons. Each of the four student plaintiffs requested a waiver of the requirement that they live on campus. In addition, the students claim that Orthodox Judaism prohibits “touching members of the opposite sex other than one’s immediate relatives or spouse [and] living in a situation in which a person would have regular or repeated exposure to members of the opposite sex undressed or dressed immodestly.” Am. Compl. ¶ 57. Finally, they claim that their counsel and “[v]arious third parties” have asked Yale to make unspecified reasonable accommodations to their beliefs or to grant them waivers, but Yale has refused. Am. Compl. ¶¶ 67-68. Plaintiffs do not ascribe any particular motivation to Yale’s original requirement that freshmen live on campus but claim that Yale expanded the requirement to sophomores for the 1995-96 academic year “because it determined that too many Yale students were moving off campus, thereby reducing Yale’s revenues from housingcharges to students.” Am.Compl. ¶ 55. Although the factual allegations do not specify clearly the policies plaintiffs attack or the accommodations they requested, the relief demanded makes it clear that the policy plaintiffs claim violates the FHA is the defendants’ refusal to exempt them from housing that they view as immoral. Plaintiffs request, pursuant to the FHA, the right to be excluded from housing, not the right to have on-campus housing that does not unduly burden their beliefs. Significantly, plaintiffs do not claim that defendants adopted their policy because of animus toward Orthodox Jews or that they grant exemptions to other religious groups or to students lacking a religious affiliation in a manner different from the exemption process for Orthodox Jews. Because plaintiffs seek exclusion from housing and not inclusion, they do not state an FHA claim. The purpose of the FHA is to promote integration and root out segregation, not to facilitate exclusion. See Trafficante, 409 U.S. at 211; Town of Huntington, 844 F.2d at 936. Because the complaint alleges neither intent to discriminate, nor a facially discriminatory policy, nor facts necessary to constitute disparate impact discrimination, nor even that the plaintiffs were excluded from housing, we believe sections 3604(a) and (b) cannot be stretched to cover plaintiffs’ claim that the FHA gives them a right to be excluded from Yale housing. Thus, based on our reading of the complaint, we would affirm the district court’s dismissal of plaintiffs’ FHA claims.


Nevertheless, we also examine the interpretations of the complaint advanced in the plaintiffs’ and amici’s briefs and in the dissent. First, relying principally on LeBlanc-Sternberg, the students argue that Yale’s policy of requiring all unmarried freshman and sophomores under the age of twenty-one to reside on campus coupled with “the current absence of any traditional, reasonable parietal rules” violates the FHA because it effectively prevents them from access to Yale housing. Pls.’ Br. at 37. Our dissenting colleague believes that plaintiffs have an actionable disparate impact claim based on this theory. In LeBlanc-Sternberg, we -- among other things -- reversed a district court order setting aside an FHA jury verdict in favor of a group of Hasidic Jews and against the village of Airmont. LeBlanc-Sternberg, 67 F.3d at 424. The village had adopted a zoning code that arguably prohibited the use of home synagogues, which were necessary for the religious practice of Orthodox Jews. Id. at 417-20. We concluded that “there was ample support for the jury’s implicit finding that Airmont’s zoning code would be interpreted to restrict the use of home synagogues, [and] that the motivation behind the enactment was discriminatory animus toward Orthodox and Hasidic Jews.” Id. at 431 (emphasis added). The students, in contrast, do not allege any facts from which a discriminatory intent could be inferred, do not argue that defendants had a discriminatory intent, and, in fact, describe Yale’s motive as economic. Because LeBlanc-Sternberg involved intentional discrimination, it does not support the plaintiffs’ position.


Nor have the students adequately pleaded that Yale’s facially neutral policy had a discriminatory impact. We apply Title VII disparate impact analysis to FHA claims. See Town of Huntington, 844 F.2d at 934 (applying Title VII analysis to public defendant); Salute v. Stratford Greens Garden Apartments, 136 F.3d 293, 302 (2d Cir. 1998) (applying Huntington to private defendant). A “prima facie case is established by showing that the challenged practice of the defendant ‘actually or predictably results in racial discrimination.’“ Town of Huntington, 844 F.2d at 934 (quoting United States v. City of Black Jack, 508 F.2d 1179, 1184-85 (8th Cir. 1974)). In order to state a prima facie claim the students must allege a “causal connection between [a] facially neutral policy . . . and the resultant proportion of minority” group members in the population at issue. Brown v. Coach Stores, Inc., 163 F.3d 706, 712 (2d Cir. 1998). The students do not allege that Yale’s policy has resulted in or predictably will result in under-representation of Orthodox Jews in Yale housing. Therefore, their claim fails. See Brown, 163 F.3d at 712; Town of Huntington, 844 F.2d at 934. We cannot read into their complaint the missing allegations crucial to a disparate impact claim because a Rule 12(b)(6) motion tests the adequacy of the complaint, see Dangler, 193 F.3d at 138, not the briefs. Moreover, plaintiffs, who are represented by able and experienced counsel, filed one amended complaint and did not move to further amend when confronted with defendants’ motion.


Plaintiffs’ second theory of liability is that Yale impermissibly discriminated against them on the basis of religion because it has a “policy of granting ad hoc and other exemptions and accommodations for secular reasons, but not for religious reasons.” Pls.’ Br. at 38. Nowhere in their complaint do plaintiffs allege that Yale has a system of “ad hoc” exemptions. Although they refer loosely to the granting of exemptions “for reasons other than religious conviction and belief,” Am. Compl. ¶ 4, the only other reasons identified are age (over 21) and marital status. These exemptions apply to Orthodox Jews just as they apply to other students. However, even assuming that plaintiffs alleged the widespread grant of “ad hoc” exemptions, they would not have stated a claim under the FHA. As we previously discussed, one relevant section of the FHA contemplates a challenge to a denial or refusal of housing and the other relevant section contemplates a challenge to discriminatory terms or conditions offered with respect to housing that is provided or offered. Plaintiffs’ allegation that defendants refused to grant them exemptions does not come within either of these sections because they do not allege that Yale’s refusal was based on intent to discriminate, was a facially discriminatory policy, constituted disparate impact discrimination by resulting in an under-representation of Orthodox Jews in Yale housing, or even caused them to be denied housing. Therefore, we affirm the district court’s dismissal of the students’ FHA claim. Having affirmed the dismissal of all of plaintiffs’ federal claims, we also affirm the dismissal of plaintiffs’ state law claims for lack of supplemental jurisdiction. …
MORAN, Senior District Judge, dissenting in part.  Before explaining why I must respectfully dissent from my colleagues’ conclusion that plaintiffs have failed to state a claim under the Fair Housing Act, it is worth putting the students’ claim in context. Yale has provided plaintiffs with rooms on the same basis as other students. In so doing, it differs from private landlords generally because it can and does require that the students rent the rooms. There are some exceptions to this policy. Married students, those over 21, and those who have completed their freshman and sophomore years are not required to live in the dormitories. According to the complaint, Yale claims that living in college dormitories is “integral” to a Yale education (at least for younger and unmarried freshmen and sophomores). Nonetheless, plaintiffs are not required to occupy the rooms they lease; they must simply pay for them. This fact, according to the students, reveals that the residency requirement stems, at least in part, from Yale’s need to generate revenue from its student housing. Am. Compl. ¶ 55. Plaintiffs seek reimbursement for their redundant housing costs and, going forward, an order exempting them from the mandatory on-campus housing policy. This relief is necessary, they allege, because attempts to find alternative on-campus, single-sex housing accommodations were unsuccessful. Am. Compl. ¶ ¶ 67-68.


I tend to agree that Yale’s parietal rules are not what Congress had in mind when it originally enacted the Fair Housing Act. But that is not a basis for ruling, as RICO well illustrates. See National Org. for Women v. Scheidler, 510 U.S. 249, 262 (1994) (“‘[T]he fact that RICO has been applied in situations not expressly anticipated by Congress does not demonstrate ambiguity. It demonstrates breadth.’“) (quoting Sedima, S.P.R.L. v. Imrex Co., 473 U.S. 479, 499 (1985)) (other citations omitted). Although the relevant standards for a disparate impact claim under the Fair Housing Act are, at the moment, rather fluid,1 there is ample authority to conclude that the complaint states a claim under sections 3604(a) and (b) of the FHA. Plaintiffs allege that a facially neutral housing policy makes housing effectively unavailable to Orthodox Jews, while the terms of that policy impose an additional financial burden on the basis of plaintiffs’ religion. Plaintiffs further allege, in so many words, that Yale has unreasonably refused to adopt an alternative housing policy that would provide a comparably effective means of meeting the defendants’ educational objective without imposing significant additional costs. Although these allegations are obscured by the morass of historical data directed toward a finding of state action, the necessary components of a disparate impact claim are surely present in the complaint.
1 See Peter E. Mahoney, The Ends of Disparate Impact: Doctrinal Reconstruction, Fair Housing and Lending Law, and the Antidiscrimination Principle, 47 Emory L.J. 409 (1998) (identifying factors which allowed competing disparate impact standards to develop); Thomas P. Vartanian, Robert H. Ledig, and Alisa Babitz, Disparate Impact Discrimination: Fair Lending at a Crossroads, 49 Consumer Fin. L.Q. Rep. 76 (1995) (noting the absence of a uniform standard of proof for housing-related disparate impact claims); Kristopher E. Ahrend, Effect, or No Effect: A Comparison of Prima Facie Standards Applied in “Disparate Impact” Cases Brought Under the Fair Housing Act (Title VIII), 2 Race & Ethnic Ancestry L. Dig. 64 (1996).


Defendants seek to avoid the disparate impact theory of liability by contending, incorrectly, that discriminatory animus must be alleged to maintain a claim under § 3604(a). Def. Br. at 38. Distinguishing the result in LeBlanc-Sternberg v. Fletcher, 67 F.3d 412 (2d Cir. 1995), the defendants, and now the majority, emphasize the “jury’s implicit finding” in that case of some discriminatory intent lurking behind the challenged zoning ordinance. This argument is merely a strawman, for our cases, present and precedent, and those of our sister circuits make it quite clear that discriminatory animus need not be shown by plaintiffs proceeding under a theory of discriminatory effect.


In truth, the students rely on LeBlanc-Sternberg for the proposition that a wide variety of housing practices may create an injury cognizable under the FHA. Indeed, our opinion today confirms that the economic penalty imposed on devout Orthodox Jews subject to Yale’s housing policy is sufficient to confer standing under the statute. I see no justification for demanding a more specific form of injury (i.e., the rejection of an application for housing) or a particular form of relief (i.e., “inclusion”) in order for plaintiffs to meet the minimum pleading threshold. It is enough that defendants have allegedly imposed conditions on the acquisition of housing such that ostensibly available housing is effectively unavailable to a protected group. Given the liberality of pleading requirements under the federal rules, I would remand the case for a decision on the merits of plaintiffs’ claims under the Fair Housing Act.


A. The Disparate Impact Framework.  In order to evaluate whether plaintiffs have advanced a colorable claim under the Fair Housing Act, it is helpful to briefly examine the sources for and status of the relevant substantive standards for such a claim. For better or worse, we have hitched the Fair Housing Act to that itinerant alpha statute, Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. See Huntington Branch, N.A.A.C.P. v. Town of Huntington, 844 F.2d 926 (2d Cir.) (adopting the burden-shifting approach from Title VII employment discrimination cases and concluding that effect alone is sufficient to establish the prima facie case), aff’d, 488 U.S. 15 (1988) (affirming judgment); Orange Lake Associates, Inc. v. Kirkpatrick, 21 F.3d 1214, 1227 (2d Cir. 1994) (confirming that Title VII framework provides the best model for disparate impact claims under the FHA, and collecting cases); Pfaff v. U.S. Dept. of Housing and Urban Development, 88 F.3d 739, 745 n.1 (9th Cir. 1996); Morgan v. Sec’y of Housing and Urban Development, 985 F.2d 1451, 1456 n. 4 (10th Cir. 1993); and see Smith v. City of Des Moines, Iowa, 99 F.3d 1466, 1470 (8th Cir. 1996) (observing that Title VII standards have “undergone several transformations in recent years”).

The disparate impact path begins, of course, with Griggs v. Duke Power Co., 401 U.S. 424, 432 (1971), in which the Supreme Court recognized that Title VII provides a remedy not only for “overt discrimination but also [for] practices that are fair in form, but discriminatory in operation.” Under Griggs, a facially neutral employment practice which imposes a racially disproportionate burden on job applicants may violate Title VII even absent an intent to discriminate. This is so, the Court surmised, because “Congress directed the thrust of the Act to the consequences of employment practices, not simply the motivation.” Id. at 432 (emphasis added). The enduring elements of disparate impact litigation have their source in the language of the Court’s opinion:

What is required by Congress is the removal of artificial, arbitrary, and unnecessary barriers to employment when the barriers operate invidiously to discriminate on the basis of racial or other impermissible classification.... The touchstone is business necessity. If an employment practice which operates to exclude Negroes cannot be shown to be related to job performance, the practice is prohibited.... Congress has placed on the employer the burden of showing that any given requirement must have a manifest relationship to the employment in question.

Griggs, 401 U.S. at 432 (emphasis added).


Later, however, in a series of significant decisions culminating in Wards Cove Packing Co., Inc. v. Atonio, 490 U.S. 642 (1989), the Supreme Court redirected disparate impact analysis away from the principles voiced in Griggs. See Albemarle Paper Co. v. Moody, 422 U.S. 405 (1975); Dothard v. Rawlinson,433 U.S. 321 (1977); New York City Transit Authority v. Beazer, 440 U.S. 568 (1979); Watson v. Fort Worth Bank & Trust, 487 U.S. 977 (1988). During this period, the Court recharacterized the relevance of a defendant’s intent, Wards Cove, 490 U.S. at 660; shifted the burden of persuasion entirely to the plaintiff, id. at 659-600; and relaxed the employer’s obligation to prove the challenged practice was a “business necessity, “ id at 659.


After two years of intense dialogue about antidiscrimination policy approaches, much lobbying and political posturing, a presidential veto in 1990, innumerable amendments and revisions, and high level negotiations between congressional leaders and the Bush White House, Congress passed the Civil Rights Act of 1991 (“Civil Rights Act”), Pub.L. 102-166, 105 Stat. 1071, codifying certain developments and reversing others in an effort to shore up Title VII’s protections for victims of discrimination.4 Key provisions of the Civil Rights Act and the only official legislative history pointedly reject several of the Wards Cove modifications. Various amendments confirmed that disparate impact claims are distinct from those alleging intentional discrimination; reallocated the burdens of proof ; and restored the substantive elements of a disparate impact claim to their pre-Wards Cove formulations. Under the amended statute, once a plaintiff has made the prima facie showing of disparate impact, the burden shifts to the defendant to demonstrate that the challenged practice is “job related for the position in question and consistent with business necessity.” 42 U.S.C. § 2000e 2(k)(1)(A)(i).

4 “The Congress finds that ... the decision of the Supreme Court in Wards Cove Packing Co. v. Atonio, ... has weakened the scope and effectiveness of Federal civil rights protections; and ... legislation is necessary to provide additional protections against unlawful discrimination in employment.” Civil Rights Act of 1991, Pub. L. 102 166 § 2(2) and (3) (1991).


As to the substantive standards, the Purposes section provides that the Act was intended to

codify the concepts of “business necessity” and “job related” enunciated by the Supreme Court in Griggs v. Duke Power Co., 401 U.S. 424 (1971), and in other Supreme Court decisions prior to Wards Cove Packing Co. v. Atonio, 490 U.S. 642 (1989).

Pub.L. 102 166, Sec. 3(2) (1991). The problem is that scholars and courts disagree as to what standards Congress intended to codify. Compare Michael Carvin, Disparate Impact Claims Under the New Title VII, 68 Notre Dame L.Rev. 1153 (1993) (arguing that Wards Cove is still good law after The Civil Rights Act); with Note, The Civil Rights Act of 1991: The Business Necessity Standard, 106 Harv. L.Rev. 896 (1993) (asserting that Wards Cove does not survive the Act); Susan Grover, The Business Necessity Defense in Disparate Impact Discrimination Cases, 30 Ga. L.Rev. 387 (1996) (arguing for a strict business necessity standard under the Act). Essentially, the competing interpretations turn on whether one views Wards Cove as consistent with and the inevitable result of earlier Supreme Court opinions, or whether the decision represented a significant departure from Griggs and its progeny. The language of the statute successfully succumbs to either interpretation.


The Act’s ambiguous language, however, while apparently necessary to sustain a fragile congressional compromise, has allowed a number of contradictory standards to emerge. Compare Banks v. City of Albany, 953 F.Supp. 28 (N.D.N.Y. 1997), with U.S. v. State of N.C., 914 F.Supp. 1257 (E.D.N.C. 1996). Further muddying current authority is the fact that a number of recent disparate impact cases have addressed claims to which the Act did not retroactively apply, and it has not always been obvious whether courts are deciding claims based on pre-Act case law or new statutory standards. See, e.g., E.E.O.C. v. Joint Apprenticeship Committee of the Joint Industry Board of the Electrical Industry, 186 F.3d 110, 120 (2d Cir. 1999) (allocating burdens of proof according to pre-Civil Rights Act case law); E.E.O.C. v. Steamship Clerks Union, Local 1066, 48 F.3d 594, 601 n.5 (1st Cir. 1995) (deciding disparate impact claim based on pre-Act standards).


Finally, although there is now consensus that Title VII standards govern claims under Title VIII, it has not always been easy to translate principles designed to regulate employment relations into the realm of public and private housing. For instance, “job performance” may be more closely related to employment qualifications than “tenant performance” is to rental criteria. See Resident Advisory Bd. v. Rizzo, 564 F.2d 126, 148-49 (3rd Cir. 1977) (observing that the error cost is higher in the employment realm); Huntington, 844 F.2d at 936 (noting the absence in Title VIII cases of a single objective akin to job performance). There are analogous, but not identical concerns at issue; just as there are analogous, but not identical provisions in the antidiscrimination statutes.


The toughest challenge is “to translate a body of precedent that simultaneously is undergoing rapid evolution.”  Mahoney, supra n.1, at 419. Because the nature of cases under the Fair Housing Act varies dramatically - from landlord/tenant disputes to Section 8 housing participation, from lending practices to urban zoning conflicts - this translation is best accomplished piece by piece, but with an eye toward the development of a coherent methodology. This case presents a new set of facts over which the evolving Title VIII framework should be laid. It may be that plaintiffs have no remedy, but their claim should be allowed to proceed through discovery toward a resolution on the merits. …

C. Relevant Burdens of Proof for Disparate Impact Claims under the Fair Housing Act


1. The Prima Facie Case.  A prima facie case of disparate impact housing discrimination is established by showing that a particular facially-neutral practice actually or predictably imposes a disproportionate burden upon members of the protected class. See Huntington, 844 F.2d at 934; Langlois v. Abington Housing Authority, 207 F.3d 43, 49-50 (1st Cir. 2000); Pfaff v. U.S. Dept. of Housing and Urban Development, 88 F.3d 739 (9th Cir. 1996); Orange Lake Associates, Inc., v. Kirkpatrick, 21 F.3d 1214, 1228 (2d Cir.1994). To sustain a disparate impact claim under § 3604(b), plaintiffs must show that the challenged practice had an adverse impact on members of the protected class with respect to the terms, conditions, or privileges of sale or rental of a dwelling, or in the provision of services or facilities in connection therewith. Under § 3604(a), plaintiffs must show that the challenged practice disproportionately excluded members of a protected group from a dwelling or from services or facilities connected therewith. Discriminatory intent need not be shown. … Indeed, in the housing context, it may often be the case that parties stipulate that a prima facie case (satisfying the elements of particularity, impact, and causation) has been established. See Pfaff, 88 F.3d at 746. The housing practices at issue are not likely to be part of a complex scheme of tests and qualifications and the adverse impact may be immediately apparent.


2. The Business Justification.  As the First Circuit stated pointed out in Langlois v. Abington Housing Authority, 207 F.3d 43, 49-50 (1st Cir. 2000), not every policy causing a disparate effect is unlawful. “[A] vast array of measures, from war-making and the federal budget to local decisions on traffic and zoning, may have a disparate impact. Thus, practically all of the case law, both in employment and housing, treats impact as doing no more than creating a prima facie case, forcing the defendant to proffer a valid justification.... Indeed, while Congress’s amendment of the law after Wards Cove Packing Co. v. Atonio... stiffened the employer’s burden of justification, it left intact the principle that disparate impact merely creates a prima facie case.” Langlois, 207 F.3d at 49-50. Thus, once a prima facie case of adverse impact is established, the inquiry turns to whether the defendant can nonetheless avoid liability by defending the practice. Huntington, 844 F.2d at 936.


In the employment context, once a Title VII plaintiff has made out a prima facie case of disparate impact, the Civil Rights Act of 1991 shifts the burden of proof to the defendant, who must show that the challenged practice is “job related for the position in question and consistent with business necessity.” 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2(k)(1)(A)(i); see Lanning v. Southeastern Pennsylvania Transp. Auth. (SEPTA), 181 F.3d 478, 485 (3rd Cir. 1999), cert. denied, 120 S.Ct. 970 (2000). As discussed above, the concepts of “business necessity” and “job related “ are undefined in the statute, but “are intended to reflect the concepts enunciated by the Supreme Court in Griggs v. Duke Power Co., 401 U.S. 424, 91 S.Ct. 849, 28 L.Ed.2d 158 (1971), and in the other Supreme Court decisions prior to Wards Cove Packing Co. v. Atonio, 490 U.S. 642, 109 S.Ct. 2115, 104 L.Ed. 2d 733 (1989).” Civil Rights Act, Sec. 3(2) (1991); Interpretive Memorandum, 137 Cong. Rec. 28,680 (1991). As Judge Torres observed in Donnelly v. Rhode Island Board of Governors for Higher Education, 929 F.Supp. 583 (D.R.I. 1996), aff’d. 110 F.3d 2 (1st Cir. 1997), “consistent with” and “necessity” connote discordant ideas.

Two things are consistent with one another if they are in harmony as opposed to being in conflict. On the other hand, something is a necessity if it is required or compelled. Since § 2000e 2(k)(1)(A)(i) uses these terms conjunctively, it is not clear whether Congress intended the standard to be that adherence to the challenged practice is required to conduct the employer’s business; that the practice is closely related to a legitimate business purpose; or something in between.

Id. at 593 (citations omitted).


Cobbling together the relevant statutory provisions, it appears that the phrase “consistent with business necessity” is shorthand for “consistent with the pre-Watson/Wards Cove conception of ‘business necessity.’“ The Watson plurality shifted the focus away from the employer’s “need” for a particular practice because it is significantly correlated with job performance, and toward the legitimacy of the employer’s business goals and whether the practice indeed contributed to those ends. In rejecting the final stages of this shift, Congress has required a Title VII defendant to justify not only the legitimacy of the ends, but also the necessity of the means. Cf. Lanning, 181 F.3d at 489; Nash v. Consolidated City of Jacksonville, Duval County, Fla., 895 F.Supp. 1536, 1545 (M.D.Fla. 1995) (“[T]he Civil Rights Act of 1991... restor[ed] pre Wards Cove law in which, inter alia, ... ‘business necessity’ really means ‘necessity.’“), aff’d, 85 F.3d 643 (11th Cir. 1996).


Judge Torres concluded that the “business necessity” test evaluates whether the practice is “reasonably necessary to achieve an important business objective.” Donnelly, 929 F.Supp. at 593. Other courts have reached similar formulations. See Banks v. City of Albany, 953 F.Supp. 28, 35 (N.D.N.Y. 1997) (“[T]he defendant must show that the challenged action is demonstrably necessary to meet an important business goal.”); Fitzpatrick v. City of Atlanta, 2 F.3d 1112, 1118 (11th Cir. 1993) (defendant must show “that the practice or action is necessary to meeting a goal that, as a matter of law, qualifies as an important business goal for Title VII purposes”); Mountain Side, 56 F.3d at 1254 (“[T]he burden shifts to the defendant to produce evidence of a ‘genuine business need’ for the challenged practice.”) (citing Griggs, 401 U.S. at 432); see also Pfaff, 88 F.3d at 747 & n.3 (rejecting application of “compelling business necessity” formulation). The Donnelly formulation is a fair reflection of the mandate of the Civil Rights Act of 1991 and is compatible with the relevant considerations attendant to a fair housing claim.


3. Alternative Practices Showing.  If the defendant can show that the practice was reasonably necessary to achieve an important business objective, the plaintiff will prevail only if he or she can prove that the defendant unreasonably refused to adopt an alternative housing practice that would serve the defendant’s legitimate objective with less discriminatory impact. See Albemarle, 422 U.S. at 425; 2000e-2(k)(1)(A)(ii) and (C). Factors such as the cost or other burdens of proposed alternative selection devices are relevant to a determination as to whether the defendant’s refusal to adopt an alternative housing procedure was reasonable. See Watson, 487 U.S. at 998. If plaintiffs have suggested another policy which would serve the defendant’s legitimate objectives but would also add significant new costs or create tremendous upheaval or seriously undermine other legitimate objectives, a refusal to accept the alternative will not be viewed as unreasonable. If, on the other hand, the alternative housing practice would be comparably effective without imposing significant new burdens, the defendant’s refusal to adopt the practice will be deemed unlawful housing discrimination. Correspondingly, to qualify as “an alternative housing practice,” the policy must be feasible, must be comparably effective in serving the landlord’s legitimate business objective, and must not significantly exceed the cost or burden of the challenged practice. Albemarle, 422 U.S. at 425; Dothard, 433 U.S. at 329; Fitzpatrick, 2 F.3d at 1118.


It is also worth noting here that the alternative practices demonstration is not about pretext. Yes, evidence showing a policy’s disparate impact can be evidence of intentional discrimination, but evidence of--or even an inference of--intentional discrimination is unnecessary to prevail on a claim of disparate impact. In Huntington, we confirmed that a plaintiff need not show that the decision complained of was made with discriminatory intent. 844 F.3d at 934. …

In sum, based on the recodification of disparate impact standards for Title VII claims and on the emerging case law interpreting those standards in the housing context, a plaintiff proceeding under the Fair Housing Act may prevail on a disparate impact claim, as opposed to one for intentional discrimination, only if (1) the plaintiff shows that the defendant employs a particular housing policy or practice that imposes a disproportionate burden on a protected group and (2)(a) the defendant fails to demonstrate that the challenged practice is reasonably necessary to achieve a legitimate business objective, or (b) the plaintiff proves that the defendant unreasonably refused to adopt an alternative housing practice that would provide a comparably effective means of meeting the defendant’s objective without imposing significant additional costs.


D. Adoption of Alternative Practices v. Accommodation.  In alleging liability under the Fair Housing Act, the students protest Yale’s “refus[al] to accommodate the plaintiffs’ religious obligations.” Am. Compl. ¶ 99. Their statement either misapprehends the law (as the majority believes), is a misnomer for the alternative practices requirement, or merely alludes to failed negotiations with the defendants. …The lower court was correct … in its conclusion that the FHA does not require Yale to make reasonable accommodations for the students’ religious obligations. 


It is not clear, however, that plaintiffs are in fact seeking an “accommodation.” Even if we assume that Yale’s parietal rule is reasonably necessary and is not an artificial, arbitrary, or unnecessary practice, there is apparently a viable alternative housing policy: Yale can provide exemptions for plaintiffs and others similarly situated. Certainly, Yale is not obligated to restructure its housing program anymore than an owner of a rooming house would be obligated to change his method of operation because plaintiffs sought to live there, and plaintiffs do not seek that relief. True, the current policy of permitting plaintiffs to live elsewhere is an alternative with less discriminatory effect. It does not, however, eliminate the disproportionate financial burden on Orthodox Jews who must pay for two apartments. Thus, exemption may be an even better alternative, although not necessarily the only one. I do not mean to suggest that plaintiffs, choosing to go to Yale, can transfer an economic burden occasioned by their religious beliefs from themselves to Yale. There is, however, no reason to believe that Yale would have to carry vacant student housing space if a few freshmen and sophomores were exempted. Each year the college is faced with far more significant variables: how many approved applicants will enroll, how many will return, what will be the mix of married and unmarried or younger and older students. At least at this juncture we are given no reason to believe that a few exemptions will have any significant economic impact upon Yale.
CONCLUSION.  “Dismissal of a complaint before discovery is a drastic step. It is a device that must not be employed ‘unless it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of his claim that would entitle him to relief.’“ Wade v. Johnson Controls, Inc., 693 F.2d 19, 22 (2d Cir. 1982) (quoting Scheuer v. Rhodes, 416 U.S. 232, 236 (1974)) (other citations omitted); see also Geisler v. Petrocelli, 616 F.2d 636 (2nd Cir. 1980). “This caution against dismissal applies with even greater force where the complaint is pro se, or where the plaintiff complains of a civil rights violation.” Easton v. Sundram, 947 F.2d 1011, 1015 (2d Cir. 1991) (citations omitted). Given our conclusion that plaintiffs have standing to pursue their antidiscrimination claims under the FHA and given the allegations in the complaint as to the effective unavailability of student housing at Yale for a defined class of Orthodox Jews, I must respectfully dissent from my colleagues’ affirmance. I would remand to the district court for discovery and further proceedings on the merits. It should be left to the finder of fact to determine whether the policy had a discriminatory effect on Orthodox Jews, whether the mandatory on-campus policy is reasonably necessary to achieve an important business objective of Yale College, and, if so, whether Yale unreasonably refused to adopt an alternative, feasible policy that would have provided a comparably effective means of meeting Yale’s educational and financial objectives without imposing significant additional burdens.

(  (  (  (  (
Discussion Questions: Hack

24.  Why does the majority opinion reject the disparate impact claim described by the dissent?  Who has the stronger position?
25.  Assuming the plaintiffs were allowed to proceed on the theory described by the dissent, what arguments would the parties be likely to make? Who should prevail?

26.  If reasonable accommodations were legally required, would this be a good case for an accommodation?  Why or why not?   
(  (  (  (  (
Akiyama v. U.S. Judo Inc.

181 F.Supp.2d 1179 (W.D.Wash. 2002)

LASNIK, District Judge.  This action was filed in February 1997 against defendants International Judo Federation (“IJF”), United States Judo Incorporated (“USJI”), United States Judo Federation (“USJF”), United States Judo Association (“USJA”), Kenji Yamada, Harold Yamada, James Harai, and Samiko Harai. Plaintiffs James Akiyama, Leilani Akiyama, Jay Drangeid, and the U.S. Judo Training Center seek an end to defendants' requirement that they bow to inanimate objects such as portraits and tatami mats prior to judo matches. Plaintiffs assert that such practices violate their religious beliefs and discriminate against them in violation of Title II of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. § 2000a), … and the Amateur Sports Act (“ASA,” 36 U.S.C. § 391(b)).


On May 13, 1997, the Court required plaintiffs to follow the administrative grievance procedure provided in the ASA and stayed the remaining claims until the administrative process was exhausted. In order to permit the individual plaintiffs to continue competing during the interim, the Court entered a preliminary injunction against defendants, prohibiting them from excluding the individual plaintiffs from judo tournaments based on their refusal to bow outside the contest area.FN1 Thereafter, plaintiffs filed an administrative complaint with USJI, the national governing body for judo under the ASA. See 36 U.S.C. § 391. USJI appointed a panel to hear plaintiffs' complaint and both parties presented witnesses and submitted evidence. The administrative panel found no religious discrimination or any other ASA violations and, on June 21, 1997, dismissed plaintiffs' administrative complaint. Plaintiffs appealed to the Commercial Arbitration Tribunal of the American Arbitration Association, as required by USJI procedures. Following a second evidentiary hearing, the arbitrator rejected plaintiffs' claims under the ASA.

FN1. The IJF bowing regulation at issue, which has been adopted by USJI and its members, USJF and USJA, requires that contestants stop and bow in a prescribed manner prior to entering the competition area, immediately before entering onto the tatami mat, and at their “mark” just before the start of the match. At the conclusion of the match, contestants are required to perform the same bows in reverse.


Plaintiffs then appealed to the United States Olympic Committee (“USOC”), the corporation empowered to oversee organized amateur sports in the United States. See 36 U.S.C. §§ 374, 395(a)(1). Although there were significant procedural irregularities in the way plaintiffs' appeal was handled by the USOC, it ultimately concluded “that the ceremonial bowing requirements of USJI do not rise to the level of proscribed racial, religious or national origin discrimination and are not violative of the obligations of a National Governing Body.” In order to exhaust their administrative remedies, plaintiffs once more initiated arbitration proceedings under 36 U.S.C. § 395(c).


On June 21-23, 2000, a three-person tribunal of the American Arbitration Association held another evidentiary hearing on plaintiffs' ASA claims. The arbitration panel made findings of fact and conclusions of law before entering a final and binding decision in favor of defendants.  …[D]efendants' motion for confirmation of the arbitration award was granted…. Defendants now seek the dismissal of all of plaintiffs' remaining claims. …
II. TITLE II OF THE CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000a.  … Defendants maintain that Title II encompasses only disparate treatment claims and that plaintiffs' claim, which is based solely on the disparate impact analysis, fails as a matter of law.


B. “Discrimination” Under Title II.  There is surprisingly little case law regarding the appropriate test for identifying “discrimination” under Title II. In the context of claims of racial discrimination, three courts have applied a disparate impact analysis under Title II or been willing to assume that the Act encompasses such a claim. See Arguello v. Conoco, Inc.,
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 207 F.3d 803, 813 (5th Cir.) (assuming arguendo that disparate impact claims are cognizable under Title), cert. denied, 531 U.S. 874, 121 S.Ct. 177, 148 L.Ed.2d 121 (2000); Olzman v. Lake Hills Swim Club, Inc.,
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 495 F.2d 1333, 1340-41 (2nd Cir.1974) (if facially neutral definition of “guest” disproportionately affects minority group, burden of justifying the definition shifts to defendant); Robinson v. Power Pizza, Inc.,
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 993 F.Supp. 1462, 1464-65 (M.D.Fla.1998) (likelihood of success on disparate impact claim shown where facially neutral policy has an adverse impact on a particular group that is not justified by business necessity). One court, however, has specifically found that the “clear language of Title II itself speaks in terms of disparate treatment (as opposed to disparate impact, for which intent is not an element).” LaRoche v. Denny's Inc.,
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 62 F.Supp.2d 1366, 1370 n. 2 (S.D.Fla.1999). In addition, both the Olzman and Power Pizza courts were faced with situations where the defendants took specific actions which, while facially neutral, had a direct, adverse, and arguably intended impact on blacks.FN2 Although the courts chose to apply a disparate impact analysis, the facts clearly suggest discriminatory intent.

FN2. In Olzman, certain members of the Lake Hills Swim Club were so incensed that a group of black children from a neighboring church had been invited to swim in the Club's pool that they redefined the word “guest” in the pool's guest policy to include only relatives or friends of a member and to exclude groups from public or private charitable or benevolent organizations. The Power Pizza decision was issued in the context of a motion for preliminary injunction and involved a pizza shop's refusal to deliver pies to an African-American community because of unsupported “security” concerns.


[4] Whatever Title II's reach in cases involving racial discrimination,FN3 the Court finds that, where the complaint is based on allegations of religious discrimination, intent must be an element of the claim. Unlike the class-wide characteristics which make up a particular race, the contours and tenets of one's religious beliefs are generally non-public and are highly individualized. Virtually any restriction or regulation imposed by a public accommodation could impinge on a person's religious beliefs because such beliefs, being both malleable and subjective, are of the individual adherent's own making. Absent more, the fact that a proprietor has decided to offer his or her services to the public in a way which could impact a religious practice or belief, whether it be by conducting business only on Sundays, by failing to keep a Kosher kitchen, by failing to include fish on the menu during Lent, or by prohibiting smoking, raises no inference of discrimination or other conduct which Congress sought to censure through the enactment of Title II.

FN3. As discussed below, the language and legislative history of the Act suggest that intent should be required for all claims brought under Title II.


[5] The language and legislative history of Title II support the imposition of an intent requirement. Congress clearly knows how to preclude all adverse impacts on an individual's practice of religion, whether intended or unintended. See Religious Freedom Restoration Act, 42 U.S.C. § 2000bb, et seq. (invalidated by City of Boerne v. Flores,
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 521 U.S. 507, 117 S.Ct. 2157, 138 L.Ed.2d 624 (1997)). In contrast, Title II precludes private and public actors from segregating or depriving individuals of services on account of their religion, a formulation which is more consistent with an intent to prevent disparate treatment than to prevent unintended adverse effects. As stated in the legislative history, the primary purpose of the Act was to remove “the humiliation, frustration, and embarrassment that a person must surely feel when he is told that he is unacceptable as a member of the public because of” a protected characteristic. S.Rep. No. 88-872 (1964), reprinted in 1964 U.S.C.C.A.N. 2355, 2370. See also H.R.Rep. No. 88-914 (1964), reprinted in 1964 U.S.C.C.A.N. 2391, 2393 (Title II will “make it possible to remove the daily affront and humiliation involved in discriminatory denials of access to facilities ostensibly open to the general public”). FN4 Such emotions and the overall insult to human dignity with which Congress was so clearly concerned arise in the context of intentional conduct, such as segregation and/or the denial of admission because of a patron's race or religion. The Senate Report specifically discusses the scourge of “differential treatment” and “differentiated services,” both of which involve intent. S.Rep. No. 88-872 (1964), reprinted in 1964 U.S.C.C.A.N. at 2369. In fact, the only mention of facially neutral policies with unintended consequences recognizes that uniform practices may adversely impact religious adherents but strongly implies that such consequences do not run afoul of Title II. S.Rep. No. 88-872 (1964), reprinted in 1964 U.S.C.C.A.N. at 2377 (a seemingly reluctant legislator questioned whether Title II “could serve as the forerunner for legislation requiring the sale of kosher foods or fish on Friday”).

FN4. Even more poignantly, the Senate Report notes the heartbreak that must accompany a parent's “inability to explain to a child that regardless of education, civility, courtesy, and morality he will be denied the right to enjoy equal treatment, even though he be a citizen of the United States and may well be called upon to lay down his life to assure this Nation continues.”


The decisions in Olzman and Power Pizza are fully consistent with Congress' intent in enacting Title II, despite the fact that the court's ostensibly relied on a disparate impact analysis. Although the defendants in those cases were able to couch discriminatory motives in seemingly neutral policies, the victims received the very clear message that they were not permitted to swim in a “white” pool and were not entitled to home pizza delivery because of the color of their skin. The courts rightly exercised their Title II power to correct such intentional and humiliating wrongs.


The only court to specifically consider a religious discrimination claim under Title II struggled with the disparate treatment/disparate impact issue facing this Court and, while not making any findings on the matter, apparently concluded that disparate treatment, not disparate impact, is the appropriate analysis under the Act. In Boyle v. Jerome Country Club,
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 883 F.Supp. 1422 (D.Idaho 1995), a golfer alleged that his club discriminated against him by scheduling golf tournaments on Sundays because the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints, of which he is a member, counsels against engaging in recreational activities on Sunday. The court noted that “Congress enacted Title II of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 to ‘vindicate the deprivation of personal dignity that surely accompanies denials of equal access to public establishments.’ ” Boyle,
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 883 F.Supp. at 1428 (quoting Heart of Atlanta Motel, Inc. v. United States,

HYPERLINK "http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=dfa1.0&vr=2.0&DB=708&FindType=Y&SerialNum=1964124896"
 379 U.S. 241, 250, 85 S.Ct. 348, 13 L.Ed.2d 258 (1964) (quoting S.Rep. No. 88-872)). After considering the legislative history and the language of the statute, the court adopted the disparate treatment analysis of Texas Dept. of Cmty. Affairs v. Burdine,
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 450 U.S. 248, 101 S.Ct. 1089, 67 L.Ed.2d 207 (1981), which, as plaintiffs point out, applies only where intentional discrimination is at issue. The court ultimately concluded that no rational trier of fact could find that defendant country club had discriminated against plaintiff on account of his religion.


C. Proof of Adverse Impact.  [6] In addition, the circumstances presented in this litigation, in which each of the plaintiffs has his or her own belief system, highlight the difficulties that would arise were the Court to fashion a disparate impact claim for religious discrimination under Title II. The essence of a disparate impact claim is that facially neutral requirements or limitations adversely affect a protected group. Plaintiffs have assumed that because religion is a uniquely personal thing with every adherent free to make his or her own interpretation of what is holy and what is profane, the relevant “group” or “class” upon which a disparate impact analysis should focus consists of a single believer. Thus, any imposition on an individual's professed religious beliefs would constitute a 100% impact rate and prove disparate impact.


[7] Identifying the relevant “group” or “class” in religious discrimination cases will, in many cases, be dispositive. For example, if plaintiff Drangeid is considered a Christian, there are hundreds-of-thousands of judo competitors with similar belief systems who are not adversely impacted by defendants' bowing requirement. A disparate impact claim brought by plaintiff Drangeid would, therefore, fail at the initial hurdle. The same is true if plaintiff Drangeid is considered a Lutheran. If, however, plaintiff Drangeid is considered a Christian/Lutheran who interprets the Bible to preclude bowing to inanimate objects, he may be able to show that defendants' bowing regulation discriminates against him, as the only member of this specially-defined class. These practical difficulties in identifying a protected class and determining whether there has been a statistically significant adverse impact are simply another reason to require a showing of intentional discrimination under Title II.FN5
FN5. The religious discrimination claims brought by plaintiffs Leilani Akiyama and the U.S. Judo Training Center are also defective in that, regardless of whether they are analyzed under a disparate treatment or a disparate impact standard, the objections of these plaintiffs are not religious in nature. As found by the arbitration panel after a full evidentiary hearing, plaintiff Leilani Akiyama is not a member of any particular religion, does not adhere to any particular religious faith, and was unable to identify any religious belief held by her which the bowing requirement offends. Rather, plaintiff Leilani Akiyama's firmly stated objection to bowing reflects her parents' objections, all of which are culturally based and none of which involves an adverse impact on a religious belief. Arbitration Award at 7. The U.S. Judo Training Center, as a corporation, is completely non-denominational and has no religious beliefs. Because there is no indication that the Center is being discriminated against because of the religion of its principle(s), it cannot maintain a claim for religious discrimination.


[8] Having considered the language of Title II, the relevant case law, and the legislative history, the Court finds that there is no claim under Title II where a proprietor or event organizer has set up facially neutral regulations governing the provision of its services, with no indication of discriminatory motive or intent. Absent some evidence that the regulation was aimed at a particular religious belief and/or that the proprietor adopted the regulation as a pretext for intentional discrimination on the basis of religion, Title II is not implicated.FN6
FN6. By way of example, if a restauranteur's facially neutral prohibition against hats were shown to be a surrogate for a rule excluding Sikhs, Hasidic Jews, and/or Muslims, a disparate treatment claim under Title II would be appropriate. In determining whether such a claim should go to the jury, the McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green,
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 411 U.S. 792, 93 S.Ct. 1817, 36 L.Ed.2d 668 (1973), burden shifting analysis would guide the Court in its attempts to root out discriminatory policies while permitting business owners to regulate the types and manner of services offered based on legitimate, non-discriminatory considerations.


D. Legitimate, Non-Discriminatory Justification.  [9] Even if the Court were to assume that Title II encompasses a disparate impact claim and that plaintiffs could establish an adverse effect on a protected group, defendants have met their burden of establishing a legitimate, non-discriminatory justification for the bowing requirement which bears a manifest relationship to their objectives. See Watson v. Fort Worth Bank and Trust,
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 487 U.S. 977, 996-99, 108 S.Ct. 2777, 101 L.Ed.2d 827 (1988). Although disparaged by plaintiffs, the arbitration panel found defendants' interests to be as follows:

U.S.J.I. did not make its decision to adopt the IJF Contest Rules, which include the mandatory bowing protocol ..., because it intended to discriminate against anyone based on religion, national origin, race, or any of the other factors referenced in 36 U.S.C. § 220522(a)(8). U.S.J.I. made that decision because it reasonably believed and intended that adoption of those rules would promote the following useful, legitimate and non-discriminatory purposes:

A) Promoting the fair and safe start of matches, particularly where participants and officials may not all speak the same language;

B) Reflecting, highlighting and preserving the etiquette and traditions of judo;

C) Promoting the dignity and unique identity of the sport, which U.S.J.I. regards as distinct from “wrestling;”

D) Promoting the effective presentation of the sport to spectators attending matches in person as well as those viewing matches on television or by similar visual presentation;

E) Enhancing the ability of U.S. amateur athletes to compete effectively and  competitively in Olympic and other international competitions;

F) Enhancing the ability of U.S.O.C. and U.S.J.I. to perform their statutory duty under 36 U.S.C. § 22503(4) to secure for the United States the most competent amateur representation possible for Olympic and other international competitions; and

G) Assuring uniform and consistent administration of one set of rules that are applied in the same way to all contestants at U.S.J.I.-sanctioned tournaments.

These are the true and actual reasons for U.S.J.I.'s decision to adopt the IJF Contest Rules, are sincerely and reasonably held by U.S.J.I., and constitute legitimate, non-discriminatory reasons for U.S.J.I.'s decisions and for the rules themselves.

Arbitration Award Finding of Fact No. 28 (dated 8/17/00). While the aesthetic considerations associated with the pre- and post-match bowing are not related to the competition itself and are only tangentially related to defendants' formal objective of promoting the sport of judo, defendants' collective ability to generate legitimate representatives of the United States in international competition is one of their primary purposes and is clearly furthered by the mandatory bowing requirement. A ruling abolishing the bowing ritual in this country would have no force over international organizations who are not parties to this litigation or in international competitions such as the Olympics and World Championships. Thus, defendants have, as a matter of law, justified the mandatory bowing requirement and overcome any inference of discrimination that could possibly have arisen from the fact that the requirement adversely, although unintentionally, impacts plaintiffs' religious practices.

(  (  (  (  (
Discussion Questions: Akiyama
27.  What are the strengths and weaknesses of the court’s holding that there is no disparate impact cause of action for religion?  Can you think of other kinds of circumstances where the cause of action might be more appropriate?  Would it be appropriate to have a disparate impact claim brought by “people whose religious beliefs prohibit bowing to other human beings.”?

28.  If reasonable accommodations were legally required, would this be a good case for an accommodation?  Why or why not?  Would the reasons given for the rule be sufficient to prevent an accommodation? 
(  (  (  (  (
(B) Facially Neutral Policies

TOLEDO v. NOBEL-SYSCO, INC.

892 F.2d 1481 (10th Cir. 1989)
SEYMOUR, Circuit Judge. [1] Wilbur Toledo brought suit under 42 U.S.C. § 1981 (1982) and Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000e et seq. (1982), charging that Nobel-Sysco, Inc. discriminated on the basis of religion, race, and national origin when it refused to hire him as a truck driver due to his religious use of peyote. The district court dismissed Toledo’s race and national origin claims on Nobel’s motion for summary judgment and, after a bench trial, also dismissed his religious discrimination claim. The court held that although Nobel’s failure to hire Toledo was religious discrimination, offers Nobel made during subsequent administrative proceedings constituted reasonable accommodation of Toledo’s religious practices and thus cured the discriminatory act. See Toledo v. Nobel-Sysco, Inc.,
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 651 F.Supp. 483 (D.N.M.1986). We reverse as to the religious discrimination claim because settlement offers made during administrative proceedings do not qualify as “reasonable accommodation” under the religious discrimination provision of Title VII. We affirm the summary dismissal of Toledo’s race and national origin discrimination claims.

I.  FACTS

A. Toledo’s Employment Application.  In March 1984, Toledo applied for a position as a truck driver for Nobel-Sysco, Inc.. Nobel is a restaurant supply corporation that distributes food, equipment, and other supplies to customers in Wyoming, Colorado, Arizona, and New Mexico. Toledo applied for a job as a delivery driver domiciled in Farmington, New Mexico, where he lived. Had Toledo been hired, he would have made deliveries to customers in northern New Mexico and southern Colorado, a responsibility which included considerable driving over mountain roads. He also would have been required to work Monday through Saturday, and to be available for occasional Sunday deliveries. He would have worked without day-to-day supervision from Nobel, whose nearest office is in Albuquerque.

Nobel responded to Toledo’s application by inviting him to interview at its Albuquerque office. Nobel’s office manager, Rodney Plagmann, conducted the interview. After the interview, Plagmann told Toledo he had the necessary experience for the job and would be hired if he passed four tests routinely given to all of Nobel’s driver applicants. One of these tests was a polygraph to determine an applicant’s truthfulness in responding to questions about past illegal drug use. It was a Nobel policy not to hire applicants who had used illegal drugs in the two years preceding their job application. This policy was stated in both the newspaper advertisement to which Toledo had responded and in information sent to Toledo before his interview. After being told of the polygraph requirement, Toledo informed Plagmann that he was a member of the Native American Church, and had used peyote as part of church ceremonies. Toledo described the purpose of the ceremonies, and indicated he had used peyote twice in the previous six months.


Plagmann did not attempt at that time to obtain more specific information regarding Toledo’s use of peyote, but he did say that Nobel probably could not hire Toledo. After the interview Plagmann sought advice from James Etherton, Nobel’s director of personnel. Etherton in turn called Nobel’s labor relations advisor, Jack Moore of Mountain States Employers Council, and related the details of Toledo’s interview. Moore told Etherton that although religious use of peyote was legal, hiring a known user would expose Nobel to potential liability if he were ever involved in an accident while driving for Nobel. Etherton then told Plagmann not to hire Toledo, and Plagmann in turn informed Toledo that Nobel could not hire him because of his use of peyote. Neither Etherton nor Plagmann discussed or attempted accommodation of Toledo’s religious practices at that time.

B. The Native American Church and Use of Peyote.  Toledo has been a member of the Native American Church since 1983. The role of peyote in church ceremonies was well documented at trial, and has been the subject of considerable attention in judicial opinions. … Our discussion of church ceremonies reflects Toledo’s description at trial of ceremonies in which he took part, and the trial court’s findings based on those descriptions.

Peyote is a small spineless cactus that contains quantities of the hallucinogen mescaline. Native American religious use of peyote was first noticed by Spanish explorers in the 1600’s, and efforts to prohibit it date from the same century. Peyote use is the central and most sacred practice of the Native American Church. Its believers consider peyote to be not only a healer, a teacher, and a way of communicating with God, but also a deity itself. The Native American Church is an incorporated religion which combines elements of Christianity with traditional Native American beliefs and the use of peyote.

Peyote ceremonies are held at the request of any member for healing purposes or special occasions. Although the ceremonies may be conducted on any night of the week, they are generally held on Friday or Saturday night. The ceremonies that Toledo attends are conducted by a “Road Man,” and take place in a hogan or tepee. A ceremony begins in the late evening, and passes through a series of rituals and prayers, culminating in the ingestion of peyote around midnight. The peyote is prepared by floating “buttons,” or small slices, of the cactus in water. It is served in cups which are passed among the participants who both drink the water and chew and swallow the pieces of peyote. Toledo testified that the cups are always passed once, and often twice. He usually only drinks on the first pass, but occasionally drinks on the second. The ceremony continues until dawn. Toledo stays awake until four or five in the afternoon after a ceremony, and then sleeps until the next morning.


Toledo testified that he normally feels the effects of peyote only for approximately four hours after ingesting it. Experts testified for both sides, and presented considerable scientific descriptions of the effects of peyote. The trial court concluded that the doses Toledo takes at the ceremony are from 1.6 to 6.4 milligrams per kilogram of body weight. Both experts agreed that a person should not drive a truck for 24 hours after ingesting more than 1 milligram per kilogram of body weight.

C. Procedural History.  Shortly after he was refused the Nobel job, Toledo filed an employment discrimination claim with the New Mexico Human Rights Commission (HRC) charging Nobel with religious discrimination. He subsequently amended his HRC complaint to charge discrimination based on race and national origin as well. In May 1984, Nobel made Toledo the first of the two offers that are the focus of this dispute on appeal. Nobel indicated it would hire Toledo on three conditions: 1) that he take the polygraph test and it show no illegal drug use other than peyote twice a year; 2) that he take a week of regular vacation after each ceremony; and 3) that he drop his HRC complaint if Nobel hired him or if he failed the polygraph test or physical examination. Toledo rejected the offer and did not make a counter-offer.


On May 24, HRC found probable cause that religious discrimination had occurred. The parties continued their negotiations, and on July 10 Nobel improved its initial offer. Nobel indicated that if Toledo would give one week’s notice before taking part in a ceremony, he would be required to take only one day off after each ceremony. Nobel also offered $500 in back pay, but still required the polygraph test, the physical examination, a limit of two ceremonies a year, and that Toledo drop his claim. Toledo rejected the offer because the back pay amount was insufficient and because he felt the restrictions on his peyote use were unjustified. He also thought that Nobel would use the polygraph test and physical examination as an excuse to disqualify him, thereby getting rid of both him and his discrimination claim. Toledo did not make a counter-offer.


In January 1985, the EEOC issued Toledo a right to sue notice. Toledo filed this suit, charging religious discrimination in violation of Title VII, and race and national origin discrimination in violation of Title VII and 42 U.S.C. § 1981. The district court granted Nobel summary judgment on Toledo’s race and national origin claims. After a bench trial, the court also held for Nobel on the issue of religious discrimination. The court determined that although Toledo had made out a prima facie case of religious discrimination, the July 10 offer made in the course of the HRC proceedings constituted reasonable accommodation of Toledo’s religious practices. …
II.  LIABILITY.  Title VII makes it “an unlawful employment practice for an employer ... to fail or refuse to hire or to discharge any individual ... because of such individual’s ... religion.” 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2. Religion is defined by the Act as follows:

“The term ‘religion’ includes all aspects of religious observance and practice, as well as belief, unless an employer demonstrates that he is unable to reasonably accommodate to an employee’s or prospective employee’s religious observance or practice without undue hardship on the conduct of the employer’s business.”

42 U.S.C. § 2000e(j) (1982). As the Supreme Court has noted, “[t]he reasonable accommodation duty was incorporated into the statute, somewhat awkwardly, in the definition of religion.” Ansonia Bd. of Educ. v. Philbrook,
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 479 U.S. 60, 63 n. 1, 107 S.Ct. 367, 369 n. 1, 93 L.Ed.2d 305 (1986).

“The Supreme Court has held that the intent and effect of this definition of ‘religion’ is to make it a violation of § 2000e-2(a)(1) for an employer not to make reasonable accommodations, short of undue hardship, for the religious practice of employees and prospective employees.”

Pinsker v. Joint Dist. No. 28J,
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 735 F.2d 388, 390 (10th Cir.1984) (citing Trans World Airlines v. Hardison,
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 432 U.S. 63, 74, 97 S.Ct. 2264, 2271, 53 L.Ed.2d 113 (1977)).

Although the Supreme Court has never ruled on the issue, lower courts have implemented a two-step procedure for evaluating claims and allocating burdens of proof under these provisions. First, the plaintiff has the burden of establishing a prima facie case.

“A plaintiff ... makes out a prima facie case of religious discrimination by proving: (1) he or she has a bona fide religious belief that conflicts with an employment requirement; (2) he or she informed the employer of this belief; (3) he or she was [not hired] for failure to comply with the conflicting employment requirement.”

Turpen v. Missouri-Kansas-Texas R.R.,
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 827 F.2d 1081, 1085 (6th Cir.1987), cert. denied, 485 U.S. 989, 108 S.Ct. 1293, 99 L.Ed.2d 503 (1988); Protos v. Volkswagen of America, Inc.,
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 797 F.2d 129, 133 (3d Cir.), cert. denied, 479 U.S. 972, 107 S.Ct. 474, 93 L.Ed.2d 418 (1986); Proctor v. Consolidated Freightways Corp.,
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 795 F.2d 1472, 1475 (9th Cir.1986). Once a plaintiff has made out a prima facie case, “the burden shifts to the employer to show that it was unable reasonably to accommodate the plaintiff’s religious needs without undue hardship.” Turpen,
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 736 F.2d at 1026; see also Pyro Mining,
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 827 F.2d at 1085; Protos,
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 797 F.2d at 134; Proctor,
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 795 F.2d at 1475.
The district court in this case found that Toledo met his burden of establishing a prima facie case, and Nobel does not contest this finding on appeal. It was undisputed at trial that the Native American Church is a bona fide religion, Toledo is a member of the Church, Toledo’s beliefs in its teachings are sincere, Toledo uses peyote only as part of church ceremonies, and Nobel refused to hire Toledo because of his peyote use. See Toledo,
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 651 F.Supp. at 488.
The dispute at trial and in this appeal centers on the district court’s findings with respect to reasonable accommodation and undue hardship. The court held that Nobel could rebut the prima facie case by showing either actual efforts at reasonable accommodation or that it could not accommodate Toledo’s practices without undue hardship. The court rejected Nobel’s argument that it could not have accommodated Toledo’s peyote use without undue hardship, but held that the July 10 offer constituted an attempt at reasonable accommodation. … 


A. Accommodation.  Whether a settlement offer made in the context of an administrative proceeding on a claim of religious discrimination qualifies as reasonable accommodation under section 2000e(j) appears to be a question of first impression. Rather than relying on precedent, therefore, the parties focus their arguments on the policies behind this provision of Title VII. Nobel correctly points out that Title VII strongly encourages cooperative settlements as the primary means for resolving claims of discrimination. Nobel argues that including settlement offers made in the course of administrative proceedings as efforts at reasonable accommodation will encourage the making of such offers, thus furthering the important statutory policy favoring voluntary reconciliation. Toledo contends in response that this approach would encourage employers to adopt a wait-and-see attitude towards employees with problematic religious practices. He suggests that when an employee or applicant presents an employer with a religious practice that conflicts with an employment requirement, under Nobel’s approach the employer would have every incentive to discriminate against the employee, knowing that if the employee files a complaint it can absolve itself of liability by attempting accommodation at that time.

We believe that Toledo’s position represents the better view. It finds initial support in the language and structure of the statute, which makes illegal any adverse employment action grounded in discrimination on the basis of religion. 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2. Religion is defined as any practice, belief, or observance which an employer can reasonably accommodate without undue hardship. 42 U.S.C. § 2000e(j). These provisions of the statute together imply that acting to the detriment of an applicant or employee because of his religion before attempting accommodation is illegal. This reading comports with the Supreme Court’s conclusion that the effect of the accommodation requirement “was to make it an unlawful employment practice ... for an employer not to make reasonable accommodations, short of undue hardship, for the religious practices of his employees and prospective employees.”  Trans World Airways,
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 432 U.S. at 74, 97 S.Ct. at 2271.
When Nobel rejected Toledo based solely on his religious practices without an attempt to accommodate him, assuming it could have done so without undue hardship, it committed an illegal act. The settlement offer made in response to the administrative charge could not undo the completed act.FN2 …
FN2. This approach accords with that taken by the court in Boomsma v. Greyhound Food Management, Inc.,
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 639 F.Supp. 1448 (W.D.Mich.1986), appeal dismissed, 815 F.2d 76 (6th Cir.1987). The employer there suspended an employee for his religiously-motivated refusal to work on Sundays, and only then considered shift-trading arrangements that might accommodate the employee’s religious practices. The court refused to consider these efforts because the “defendant failed to engage in efforts to accommodate reasonably plaintiff’s religious belief against working on Sundays until after plaintiff had suffered adversely for adhering to such belief.” Id.
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 at 1454.
In addition, Toledo’s policy arguments are more persuasive. Under the rule advocated by Nobel, an employer could absolve itself from liability for religious discrimination after it had disadvantaged an employee. When conflicts with religious practices first arise, an employer’s conduct and the manner in which it deals with such conflicts would be virtually unregulated. Title VII would provide employees no protection until after the fact, an important consideration given the impact a suspension, termination, or rejection may have on an individual’s life. We conclude that the trial court erred in considering Nobel’s settlement offers as reasonable accommodation which cured Nobel’s illegal discriminatory act. …
C. Undue Hardship.  [4] The court below held that Nobel could accommodate Toledo’s religious use of peyote without undue hardship. Toledo argues that any claim of undue hardship should not be considered by a court when the employer has not met its burden of coming forward with evidence of attempts at reasonable accommodation. …
Nobel’s position is in line with that taken explicitly by the Sixth Circuit:

“[I]t is possible for an employer to prove undue hardship without actually having undertaken any of the possible accommodations, and we must determine whether the [employer] has made such showing in this case.”

Draper v. United States Pipe & Foundry Co.,
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 827 F.2d at 1086. We believe this is the more reasonable approach, for it is certainly conceivable that particular jobs may be completely incompatible with particular religious practices. It would be unfair to require employers faced with such irreconcilable conflicts to attempt futilely to resolve them. Employers faced with such conflicts should be able to meet their burden by showing that no accommodation is possible.

Although conceivable, such situations will also be rare. We therefore will be “skeptical of hypothetical hardships.” Draper,
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 527 F.2d at 520. “The employer is on stronger ground when he has attempted various methods of accommodation and can point to hardships that actually resulted.” Id. Indeed, deciding the issue of undue hardship without some background of attempted or proposed accommodation is best resolved by examining the specific hardships imposed by specific accommodation proposals:

“With other courts, we recognize that the determination ‘whether a particular accommodation works an undue hardship on either an employer or union must be made by considering “the particular factual context of each case.” ‘ ”

Protos,
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 648 F.2d 1239, 1243 (9th Cir.), cert. denied, 454 U.S. 1098, 102 S.Ct. 671, 70 L.Ed.2d 639 (1981)).

Accordingly, we hold that an employer who has made no efforts to accommodate the religious beliefs of an employee or applicant before taking action against him may only prevail if it shows that no accommodation could have been made without undue hardship. Absent this showing, failure to attempt some reasonable accommodation would breach the employer’s duty to initiate accommodation of religious practices.

On appeal, Nobel asserts three arguments supporting the claim that no accommodation is possible in this case. First, it claims that hiring an active member of the Native American Church would place it in violation of Federal Department of Transportation (DOT) regulations regarding drug use by truck drivers. Second, it claims that any use of peyote is illegal, and that hiring a user of an illegal drug would violate its own policies and its truck lease agreement. Finally, it claims that knowingly hiring a peyote user would expose it to unacceptable liability risks. We address each argument in turn.

[5] Nobel claims here, as it did at trial, that DOT regulations made hiring Toledo illegal. The relevant regulation in effect at the time of Toledo’s application stated:

“(a) No person shall operate, or be in physical control of, a motor vehicle if he possesses, is under the influence of, or is using, any of the following substances:

(1) A narcotic drug or any derivative thereof;

(2) An amphetamine or any formulation thereof (including, but not limited to, ‘pep pills’ and ‘bennies’);

(3) Any other substance, to a degree which renders him incapable of safely operating a motor vehicle.”

49 C.F.R. § 392.4 (1983).

The district court correctly noted that although peyote is neither a narcotic nor an amphetamine, it could render a driver “incapable of safely operating a motor vehicle” and thus falls under subsection (3) of the regulation. The court also correctly “interpret[ed] the regulation to prohibit possession, driving under the influence of, or use (consumption) of peyote while operating or physically controlling a truck. It does not prohibit use or possession while off duty.” Toledo,
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 651 F.Supp. at 489. The court found that Toledo never used peyote outside of religious ceremonies, and that Nobel could have ensured compliance with the regulation by requiring Toledo to take a day off after each ceremony. This finding of fact is not clearly erroneous, and we do not disturb it on appeal. See Pyro Mining,
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 529 F.2d at 489. …
[6] Nobel argues next that peyote is an illegal drug, and that hiring a user of an illegal drug would violate its own policies and its truck lease agreement with Ryder Trucks. The district court rejected this argument by noting that although peyote is a Schedule I illegal drug under the Controlled Substance Act of 1970, 21 U.S.C. § 812(c) Schedule I(c)(12) (1982), religious use of peyote by members of the Native American Church has been made legal by regulation. See 21 C.F.R. § 1307.31 (1988) (“The listing of peyote as a controlled substance in Schedule I does not apply to the nondrug use of peyote in bona fide religious ceremonies of the Native American Church....”); see generally Employment Div., Dep’t. of Human Resources v. Smith,
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 468 F.Supp. at 1248. Bona fide religious use of peyote is also explicitly made legal by statute in New Mexico and Colorado, the two states in which Toledo would have driven. See N.M.Stat.Ann. § 30-31-6(D) (1987); Colo.Rev.Stat. § 12-22-317(3) (1985).

The district court disposed of Nobel’s argument as follows:

“Nobel’s lease with Ryder, from whom it leased all its trucks, provided that Ryder could remove any driver, cancel its lease or cancel its insurance if any driver used drugs or operated trucks under the influence of drugs which impair the driver’s ability to operate the truck. The Ryder Safety Manual also prohibited ‘drug abuse’. As indicated above, Toledo’s use of peyote was not an illegal use, so did not violate Nobel policy. By requiring Toledo to take a day off after each use of peyote, Nobel would have been complying with the Ryder lease terms on use or being under the influence of drugs while on the job. Toledo’s religious use was not drug abuse. Therefore, neither Nobel nor Ryder policies prevented Nobel from hiring Toledo with the reasonable restriction of requiring Toledo to take a day off after each use.”

Toledo,
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 651 F.Supp. at 491. The meaning of the federal regulation and New Mexico statutory exemption are evident and undisputed. A review of the record has convinced us that the district court’s findings regarding the Ryder lease and Nobel policy are not clearly erroneous.  …
[8] Nobel’s final claim of undue hardship is that hiring a known user of peyote would expose Nobel to the risk of increased tort liability should Toledo cause an accident while in its employ. The district court rejected this argument on two grounds: that Toledo’s known peyote use would not expose Nobel to new lawsuits, but only to additional liability in suits that already could be brought against it under the doctrine of respondeat superior; and that the legality of peyote and restrictions on Toledo’s work after ceremonies would virtually eliminate this risk. See Toledo,
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 651 F.Supp. at 491. Nobel responds that this holding does not adequately consider all the nuances of the tort of negligent entrustment and Nobel’s potential exposure to punitive damages.

[9] An accommodation that requires an employer to bear more than a “de minimis” burden imposes undue hardship. See Trans World Airways,
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 432 U.S. at 84, 97 S.Ct. at 2276. Any proffered hardship, however, must be actual; “[a]n employer ... cannot rely merely on speculation.” Pyro Mining,
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 648 F.2d 1239, 1243 (9th Cir.) (“A claim of undue hardship cannot be supported by merely conceivable or hypothetical hardships.... The magnitude as well as the fact of hardship must be determined by examination of the facts of each case.”), cert. denied, 454 U.S. 1098, 102 S.Ct. 671, 70 L.Ed.2d 639 (1981).

We are convinced that the risks of increased liability created by hiring Toledo are too speculative to qualify as undue hardship. As the district court found, accommodating Toledo’s practices by requiring him to take a day off after each ceremony would virtually eliminate the risk that the influences of peyote would cause an accident or be a factor in subsequent litigation. This finding in turn depends on the district court’s previous factual determinations that the doses of peyote Toledo ingested at ceremonies would have dissipated after a day’s rest. See Toledo,
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 651 F.Supp. at 487, 489, 491. These findings are all well supported by the record and are not clearly erroneous.

Nobel failed to show that accommodation of Toledo’s practices without undue hardship was impossible. Its refusal to hire him therefore constituted a violation of Title VII’s prohibition against employment discrimination based on religion.FN5
FN5. As the discussion in Part IIC on undue hardship indicates, the instant case is clearly distinguishable from Smith v. Employment Div.,
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 307 Or. 68, 763 P.2d 146 (1988), cert. granted, 489 U.S. 1077, 109 S.Ct. 1526, 103 L.Ed.2d 832 (1989). In Smith, a county employee was discharged from his position as an alcohol abuse counselor for the off-duty religious use of peyote, and was subsequently denied unemployment compensation. Smith contended that the state’s denial of benefits impermissibly burdened his right to the free exercise of his religion guaranteed by the First Amendment. The Oregon Supreme Court agreed, holding:

“We conclude that the Oregon statute against possession of controlled substances, which include peyote, makes no exception for the sacramental use of peyote, but that outright prohibition of good faith religious use of peyote by adult members of the Native American Church would violate the First Amendment directly and as interpreted by Congress. We therefore reaffirm our holding that the First Amendment entitles petitioners to unemployment compensation.”

Id.
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 763 P.2d at 148 (footnote omitted). The Supreme Court granted certiorari to consider whether the First Amendment’s Free Exercise Clause protects a person who uses peyote for religious purposes from prosecution under a state criminal statute. See 57 U.S.L.W. 3593.

In the instant case, no state action is involved and the First Amendment is therefore not implicated. Instead, the issue is whether Nobel’s conduct violates Title VII. Moreover, and more importantly for purposes of the specific arguments Nobel raises here, while the religious use of peyote is subject to criminal prosecution in Oregon, it is exempt from prosecution in all jurisdictions with any relevance to this case. See supra at 1491.

V.  CONCLUSION.  We reverse the holding of the district court relieving Nobel of liability for its discriminatory failure to hire Toledo. By failing to accommodate Toledo’s religious practices before refusing to hire him, Nobel violated Title VII. … 

(  (  (  (  (
DISCUSSION QUESTIONS: TOLEDO

29.  If Noble’s offers of accommodation had been made in a timely manner, would either or both have been reasonable?

30.  Is the court’s holding about settlement offers correct?  Is the court correct about the the appropriate burdens on the employer with regard to showing undue hardship without attempting accvommodations?

31.  Is the court correct to affirm the trial court’s finding of no undue hardship?  Was the decision consistent with the Hardison definition of undue hardship?

(  (  (  (  (
BLOCH v. FRISCHHOLZ

533 F.3d 562 (7th Cir. 2008) (Rehearing En Banc Granted Oct. 30, 2008.)

EASTERBROOK, Chief Judge.  In September 2001 the Shoreline Towers Condominium Association adopted rules for the hallways of its building at 6301 North Sheridan Road in Chicago. The rules provide, among other things, that “[m]ats, boots, shoes, carts or objects of any sort” may not be placed outside owners’ doors. The rules also prohibit signs on doors or in hallways. Lynne Bloch, who was on the association’s board and chaired the committee that devised these rules, did not imagine that they would affect the mezuzah on the doorpost of her unit. For several years they did not. But when the hallways were repainted in 2004 all mezuzot and other religious signs and symbols were removed. Bloch affixed another; the association had it, too, removed, in reliance on the rules.

By the time Bloch and her family filed this suit under sections 804 and 817 of the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 3604, 3617, and one of the implementing regulations, 24 C.F.R. § 100.400(c)(2), the association’s board had adopted a religious exception to the hallway rules and instructed the custodial staff to leave mezuzot, crucifixes, and other items of religious significance in place. The Blochs demanded damages for distress they had suffered in the interim, plus an injunction to prevent the association from returning to its old ways. The district court granted summary judgment for the association and its president, Edward Frischholz, relying on Halprin v. Prairie Single Family Homes of Dearborn Park Association,
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 388 F.3d 327 (7th Cir.2004).

We observed in Halprin that § 804(b) forbids discrimination in the “terms, conditions, or privileges of sale or rental of a dwelling” but does not address discrimination after ownership has changed hands-and that § 817, on which the regulation rests, makes it unlawful to interfere with a person in the enjoyment of rights under § 804 (and some other sections) but does not enlarge any of those rights. This means, Halprin held, that religiously motivated harassment of owners or tenants does not violate the Fair Housing Act or its regulations. Conflicts among owners, we concluded, must be addressed under state law (including the law of property, contracts, and voluntary associations, in addition to any state civil-rights laws).


 Halprin allowed that religious discrimination or harassment so severe that it amounts to constructive eviction might be equated to making a dwelling unavailable on religious grounds, and thus violate § 804(b). See 388 F.3d at 329. The Blochs contend that an observant Jew must have a mezuzah at every entrance, and that to forbid all mezuzot therefore is to forbid occupancy by all adherents to Judaism. That is constructive eviction, the Blochs maintain. To address this argument, we would need to know whether the Blochs’ religious obligation can be met only by a mezuzah on the hallway-facing side of each doorpost; a mezuzah or other religious artifact attached to the frame’s inner side, and thus not visible from the hall unless the door was open, would not transgress the association’s old rules.


Before we go further, a few words are in order on the significance of the change that allows owners to fasten mezuzot to the hall side of the door frames. At oral argument counsel for the Blochs told us that the goal of this suit is prospective relief. That the association voluntarily adopted a religious exception to its rules would not make such a claim moot, for the board might abrogate the exception. See United States v. W.T. Grant Co.,
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 345 U.S. 629, 73 S.Ct. 894, 97 L.Ed. 1303 (1953). But state and local laws have made it impossible for the association to go back to the 2001 version. On December 14, 2005, Chicago enacted an ordinance that denies a residential building authority to prevent any owner or lessee “from placing or affixing a religious sign, symbol or relic on the door, door post or entrance of an individual apartment, condominium or cooperative housing unit” unless necessary to “avoid substantial damage to property or an undue hardship to other unit owners.” Chicago Municipal Code 5-8-030. And as of January 1, 2007, a state law, 765 ILCS 605/18.4(h), requires every condo association to establish a “reasonable accommodation for religious practices, including the attachment of religiously mandated objects to the front-door area of a condominium unit.” So defendants cannot restore the rule to which plaintiffs object. This, coupled with counsel’s statement at oral argument that plaintiffs’ objective is an injunction, led us to ask for briefs on mootness. Plaintiffs’ supplemental filing makes it clear that, despite what counsel said at argument, their main goal is damages (and, should they prevail, attorneys’ fees). So the suit is not moot.


[1] But it is unnecessary to consider whether a mezuzah on the residential side of a doorpost would meet the requirements of plaintiffs’ faith. For the hallway rule, as adopted in 2001 and as enforced in 2004, is neutral with respect to religion. The rule says that no signs and no “objects of any sort” may be placed on the hallway side of doors and door frames. The association removed secular photos and posters as well as Christmas ornaments, crucifixes, and mezuzot. Generally applicable rules that do not refer to religion differ from discrimination. See, e.g., Employment Division v. Smith,

HYPERLINK "http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=dfa1.0&vr=2.0&DB=708&FindType=Y&SerialNum=1990064132"
 494 U.S. 872, 110 S.Ct. 1595, 108 L.Ed.2d 876 (1990).

Plaintiffs do not contend that a seemingly neutral rule was adopted to target an unwanted group, after the fashion of Church of Lukumi Babalu Aye, Inc. v. Hialeah,
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 508 U.S. 520, 113 S.Ct. 2217, 124 L.Ed.2d 472 (1993). The anti-sacrifice rule at issue in that case was irrelevant to most inhabitants of the town but effectively outlawed one unwelcome religious sect. The hallway rule of the Shoreline Towers Condominium Association, by contrast, potentially affects every owner. It bans photos of family vacations, political placards, for-sale notices, and Chicago Bears pennants. Lynne Bloch led the committee that drafted this rule; she was not trying to undermine her own religious practices. The objection to this rule is not that it is designed to target a religion, but that it lacks a religious proviso. The rule was adopted not because of, but in spite of (or with indifference toward), the consequences that plaintiffs decry. Cf. Personnel Administrator of Massachusetts v. Feeney,
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 442 U.S. 256, 279, 99 S.Ct. 2282, 60 L.Ed.2d 870 (1979).

What the Blochs want is a religious exception to a neutral rule. That is to say, they seek an accommodation of religion, which is exactly how the state law that we have quoted expresses its requirements. The Fair Housing Act requires accommodation-but only of handicaps. See 42 U.S.C. § 3604(f)(3)(B). Several federal statutes require accommodation of religion. Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e(j), does so for employment, see Trans World Airlines, Inc. v. Hardison,
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 432 U.S. 63, 97 S.Ct. 2264, 53 L.Ed.2d 113 (1977), the Religious Land Use and Institutionalized Persons Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000cc to 2000cc-5, does so for zoning and prisons, see Cutter v. Wilkinson,
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 544 U.S. 709, 125 S.Ct. 2113, 161 L.Ed.2d 1020 (2005), and the Religious Freedom Restoration Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000bb to 2000bb-4 does so for laws and practices of the federal government that substantially burden religion. See Gonzales v. O Centro Espírita Beneficente União do Vegetal,
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 546 U.S. 418, 126 S.Ct. 1211, 163 L.Ed.2d 1017 (2006). But none of these laws applies to regulations adopted by private condo associations.


Plaintiffs would like us to treat failure to make an accommodation as a form of discrimination. That was one theme of Justice O’Connor’s separate opinion in Smith-but the majority held that a neutral, exception-free rule is not discriminatory and is compatible with the Constitution’s free exercise clause. See also, e.g., Boerne v. Flores,
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 521 U.S. 507, 117 S.Ct. 2157, 138 L.Ed.2d 624 (1997); University of Alabama v. Garrett,
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 531 U.S. 356, 121 S.Ct. 955, 148 L.Ed.2d 866 (2001). It would be especially inappropriate to adopt in the name of the Fair Housing Act a principle that lack of accommodation = discrimination, since the FHA itself distinguishes the two. By requiring accommodation of handicap but not race, sex, or religion, the statute’s structure tells us that the FHA uses the word “discriminate” to mean something other than “failure to accommodate.” We cannot create an accommodation requirement for religion (race, sex, and so on). Our job is not to make the law the best it can be, but to enforce the law actually enacted. See Domino’s Pizza, Inc. v. McDonald,
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 546 U.S. 470, 126 S.Ct. 1246, 163 L.Ed.2d 1069 (2006).


[2] Any requirement of religious accommodation creates occasions for conflict. An entitlement of one group to display its symbols may cause unease for other faiths that abhor all icons. Within the bounds set by the Constitution’s establishment clause, a legislature may authorize or require religious accommodation in housing, as Illinois and Chicago have done. Deciding whether this is to be done, and if so how far the obligation extends-the Religious Land Use and Institutionalized Persons Act stops with land use and prisons-is a task for the legislature. The Fair Housing Act requires accommodation of handicaps but not religious beliefs and practices. No more need be said to establish that the judgment must be AFFIRMED.

WOOD, Circuit Judge, dissenting. The central question in this case is whether the Shoreline Towers Condo Association Board and its president Edward Frischholz intentionally discriminated against plaintiffs Lynne, Helen, and Nathan Bloch in violation of the Fair Housing Act (FHA), 42 U.S.C. § 3601 
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et seq., when the defendants abruptly decided to reinterpret a condo rule on the topic of hallway clutter to prohibit the Blochs from fulfilling their religious duty to place a small mezuzah on the outer frame of their door. My colleagues recharacterize the Blochs’ claim as one seeking some kind of accommodation for a religious practice, and as so understood, they conclude that the district court was correct to grant summary judgment in favor of the defendants. It is at that crucial juncture that I part company with them. In my view, the Blochs are raising a straightforward claim of intentional discrimination based on their Jewish religion and ethnicity, and they are entitled to reach a trier of fact. I therefore dissent from the decision to affirm the district court’s judgment.

I.  It is important at the outset to review exactly what this case is about. There is a helpful description of the mezuzah in the amicus curiae brief filed by the Decalogue Society of Lawyers in support of the Blochs’ claim, which I set forth here for convenience:

The mezuzah, which translates to “doorpost,” consists of a small piece of parchment rolled up and placed into a small wooden, plastic, or metal casing.... They usually are no more than six inches long, one inch deep, and one inch wide. The parchment contains two biblical passages:

Hear, O Israel: the Lord is our God, the Lord is the One and Only. You shall love the Lord, your God, with all your heart, with all your soul, and with all your resources. And these matters that I command you today shall be upon your heart.... And write them on the doorposts of your house and upon your gates.

Deuteronomy 6:4-9 (The Torah, The Artscroll Series/Stone Ed., Mesorah Publ’n Ltd.1996), and

It will be that if you hearken to My commandments that I command you today, to love the Lord, your God, and to serve Him with all your heart and with all your soul.... You shall place these words of Mine upon your heart and upon your soul; ... And you shall write them on the doorposts of your house and upon your gates....

Deuteronomy 11:13-21 (The Torah, The Artscroll Series/Stone Ed., Mesorah Publ’n Ltd.1996).

The mezuzah must be placed in a certain place, and many observant Jews will touch it and then kiss their fingers and pray as they enter and leave the home. 

… At this stage of the litigation, no one is disputing the fact that the mezuzah is a central part of the Jewish religious tradition or the fact that the Blochs genuinely believe that it is their religious duty to have a mezuzah on their doorpost.


Until 2004, the Blochs had their mezuzot posted on their door posts in accordance with Jewish law, and no one seems to have objected. As the majority notes, however, in 2004 the Association adopted the position that the Blochs’ mezuzot were inconsistent with a rule of the Association. It is worth looking at the history of the dispute that ensued in some detail, as it explains why the Blochs believe that they have been the victims of intentional discrimination. Because this case comes to us after a grant of summary judgment, I present the facts in the light most favorable to the Blochs.

The Blochs have lived for more than 30 years in three units at Shoreline Towers, a condominium building located on Chicago’s North Side. Lynne Bloch, the mother of Helen and Nathan Bloch, has served on the condominium board for over 15 years. In 2001, while she was on the board, the rules and regulations committee revised the rules and enacted the so-called Hallway Rule, which reads as follows in its entirety:

Hallways
1. Mats, boots, shoes, carts or objects of any sort are prohibited outside Unit entrance doors.

2. Signs or name plates must not be placed on Unit doors.

3. Pets must not be left unattended in the hall. Hallways should not be used as dog/pet runs.

4. No alterations to the common area hallways are allowed.

5. No playing with or riding of bicycles, tricycles, roller blades, etc. is allowed.

Hallway Rule 1 is the section at issue here. Until the spring of 2004, no one interpreted the rule as forbidding the placement of mezuzot on the exterior doorposts of unit entrances.

In May 2004, the defendants began a project to renovate the hallways in the building; this project included the repainting of all walls and doors. They instructed the residents to remove all objects from their doors in preparation for the work. The Blochs removed their mezuzot in compliance with this request, but after the work was completed, they re-affixed the mezuzot to the exterior doorposts of their unit entrances. It was only then that defendants began removing and confiscating the mezuzot, without notice to the Blochs and without their permission. The defendants claimed that they were enforcing Hallway Rule 1, even though the rule had never before been applied in that way. It had instead been applied as a rule ensuring that clutter did not accumulate around the doors of units; Hallway Rule 2 was the only rule addressing items affixed to doors, and it obviously prohibited only signs or name plates, not mezuzot. The Blochs objected and furnished information to the condominium association explaining the religious significance of the mezuzah. Their efforts were unavailing: between May 2004 and September 2005, the building maintenance staff repeatedly confiscated the Blochs’ mezuzot. At one point, the Blochs were told that if they put up a mezuzah again, they would be fined.


Perhaps the worst episode, and one that gives rise to a strong inference of anti-Semitic animus, occurred while the Blochs were mourning the death of Dr. Marvin Bloch, Lynne’s husband and Helen and Nathan’s father. In preparation for Shiva, the seven-day mourning period specified by Jewish law, see http:// www. aish. com/ literacy/ lifecycle/ the_ Stages_ of_ Jewish_ Mourning. asp (visited June 23, 2008), the Blochs’ attorney wrote a letter to the condo board requesting that their mezuzah be allowed to remain during the Shiva. In the letter, the attorney referred to an agreement between the Blochs and the condo that would have permitted this limited display. Rather than complying with their request, however, the defendants waited until the family literally was attending Dr. Bloch’s funeral and then removed the mezuzot while everyone was away. When the Blochs returned home with the funeral guests, including a rabbi, they were horrified to discover that the mezuzot were once again missing.


Another resident of Shoreline Towers, Debra Gassman, was also an observant Jew who described how “her life was turned upside down one fateful summer evening” when “she returned home to her Chicago condominium to find her mezuza [sic ] missing from the doorpost.” See Ruth Eglash, The Case of the Confiscated Mezuzah, The Jerusalem Post, June 8, 2006. Gassman, who also sued the same defendants, see Gassman v. Frischolz et al., No. 05 C 5377 (N.D.Ill.), on appeal, No. 07-2213 (7th Cir.), first thought that she had been the victim of a hate crime. Stunned to find out that the mezuzah had been lifted at the orders of the condominium board itself, Gassman concluded that she had essentially been evicted from her home. In December 2005, she made aliyah (returning to make Israel her home, see http:// www. aliyah. org (visited June 23, 2008)), but continued to pursue her lawsuit. (Proceedings in this court have been suspended pending the outcome of the Blochs’ case.)


In September 2004, Lynne offered a proposal to the condo board to amend Hallway Rule 1 to specify that mezuzot could be posted on the exterior doorframes of unit entrances. The board refused. … 

At oral argument, the panel requested supplemental briefs discussing the question whether [the] new [Chicago and Illinois] laws rendered the Blochs’ case moot. Our concerns were heightened by the impression that the Blochs’ lawyer left with us that the case was only about injunctive relief. A close look at the pleadings, however, reveals that this is not so. Both in the papers filed with the district court and those filed here, the Blochs have maintained all along that they are seeking damages for the pain, humiliation, and distress they suffered during the long period of contention. I therefore agree with the majority that the request for damages is enough to save the case from mootness. I feel compelled to add that there is nothing either surprising or wrong (contrary to many statements in the defendants’ supplemental brief) about the fact that the Blochs initially sought both kinds of relief. Indeed, especially given the fact that the question in this case is whether a trier of fact could conclude that the defendants were intentionally discriminating against the Blochs, it was shocking to read at the end of their supplemental brief that “[t]hroughout this matter, Plaintiffs have been trying to get their ‘pound of flesh’ from Defendants due to personal animosity between Lynne and Frischholz.” Perhaps the defendants have not read Shakespeare’s Merchant of Venice lately and thus failed to recall that the play is about a bitter Jewish moneylender, Shylock, who agreed to loan funds to a man he loathed (Antonio-who spit on him because he was Jewish) only upon a promise that if the loan was not paid in time, Shylock would be entitled to carve a pound of flesh from Antonio. At the end of the play, after the disguised Portia defeats the contract by pointing out that Shylock is not entitled to shed any blood while he takes his pound of flesh, Shylock is punished by losing half of his lands and being forced to convert to Christianity. This is hardly the reference someone should choose who is trying to show that the stand-off about Hallway Rule 1 was not because of the Blochs’ religion, but rather in spite of it. See ante at 565, citing Personnel Administrator of Massachusetts v. Feeney,
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 442 U.S. 256, 279, 99 S.Ct. 2282, 60 L.Ed.2d 870 (1979).

II.  The Blochs are pursuing on appeal four legal theories in support of their claim to relief. … Three of the federal theories rest on the Fair Housing Act (FHA), §§ 3604(a), 3604(b), and 3617; one relies on the Civil Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1982. I begin with the FHA theories.

Section 3604(a) makes it unlawful “[t]o refuse to sell or rent after the making of a bona fide offer, or to refuse to negotiate for the sale or rental of, or otherwise make unavailable or deny, a dwelling to any person because of race, color, religion, sex, familial status, or national origin.” Section 3604(b) then makes it unlawful “[t]o discriminate against any person in the terms, conditions, or privileges of sale or rental of a dwelling, or in the provision of services or facilities in connection therewith, because of race, color, religion, sex, familial status, or national origin.” Finally, § 3617 makes it unlawful “to coerce, intimidate, threaten, or interfere with any person in the exercise or enjoyment of, or on account of his having exercised or enjoyed, or on account of his having aided or encouraged any other person in the exercise or enjoyment of, any right granted or protected by section 3603, 3604, 3605, or 3606 of this title.” The primary authority from this court construing §§ 3604 and 3617 is Halprin v. The Prairie Single Family Homes of Dearborn Park Ass’n,
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 388 F.3d 327 (7th Cir.2004).  …
Given the language in Halprin reserving the question whether the HUD regulation creates an independent right to be free from interference on the basis of religion during the period of occupancy, I approach § 3604(a) as if it is limited to cases in which availability or access to housing is at issue. Even under that narrow view, the Blochs should be permitted to go forward with their case. The record contains substantial evidence that the inability to place a mezuzah on the doorpost creates a constructive eviction for observant Jewish residents. There are letters from the Rabbinical Council of Chicago, the Decalogue Society, and Rabbi Aron Wolf, who heads up the Mezuzah Division of the Chicago Mitzvah Campaign (see http:// www. chicagomitz vahcampaign. com/ mezuzah. htm (last visited June 24, 2008)). All of these witnesses stated that an observant Jew would be forced to move if he or she was not allowed to affix a mezuzah. The only reason the Blochs have not moved is because an interim rule was adopted, and then reinforced by an order from the district court, allowing them to maintain their mezuzot during the pendency of this suit. Going forward, the new Chicago ordinance and Illinois law provide further protection for them. But Debra Gassman did move because of the way that Hallway Rule 1 was enforced. Thus, in a real sense, Hallway Rule 1 makes condominium units at Shoreline Towers functionally unavailable to observant Jews like the Blochs and, if it could be enforced, the rule would effect their constructive eviction. They are faced with a dilemma: a choice between observing their religion as they believe the Torah commands them to do and living in Shoreline Towers. Moreover, Hallway Rule 1 operates exactly as a redlining rule does with respect to the ability of the owner to sell to observant Jews. No such person could buy a unit at Shoreline Towers. The Association might as well hang a sign outside saying “No observant Jews allowed.” From that point of view, the rule falls squarely within the ambit of § 3604(a), as construed in Halprin.
The Blochs’ case is also secure under the terms of § 3604(b), which focuses on discrimination against any person in “the terms, conditions, or privileges of sale or rental of a dwelling” on the ground, among other things, of religion.  … The language of §3604(b) is broad, referring to any “terms, conditions, or privileges of sale.” Although it may be possible to interpret these words restrictively to cover only pre-sale activities, nothing in the statute compels such an interpretation. Tellingly, HUD, which is the agency responsible for developing regulations that implement the FHA, has adopted a broader approach. HUD’s regulation extends the protections of § 3604(b) to “an owner, tenant or a person associated with him or her.” 24 C.F.R. § 100.65(b)(4). This was a formal regulation of the type that is entitled to deference under Chevron, USA v. Natural Resources Defense Council,
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 467 U.S. 837, 104 S.Ct. 2778, 81 L.Ed.2d 694 (1984)…. I would find … that 24 C.F.R. § 100.65(b)(4) is a valid interpretation of § 3604(b), and that the only remaining question for this part of the case is whether the Blochs have presented enough evidence of discrimination or harassment based on the fact that they are Jewish to survive summary judgment.

In this connection, the evidence of constructive eviction, diminished opportunity to sell to prospective Jewish purchasers, and harassment (including the cruel funeral incident) is just as useful for this theory as it was for § 3604(a). The Association’s argument that its actions against the Blochs’ mezuzot were isolated and innocuous incidents is only a characterization of the facts that a jury might accept, but that it might equally reject. There was nothing “isolated” about its actions: once it decided to reinterpret Hallway Rule 1 to address items on the doorpost as well as “mats, boots, shoes, carts or objects of any sort” placed on the floor of the hallway near the door, Association personnel consistently removed the mezuzot, despite the Blochs’ protests and Lynne’s efforts to get the rule changed or at least briefly suspended during Shiva. Nor, as I discuss in a moment, would a trier of fact be compelled to find that the Association’s actions were “innocuous” as opposed to intentionally discriminatory.

The central reason why the majority has rejected the Blochs’ claim is its conclusion that they are seeking some kind of special religious accommodation to a facially neutral rule, and that there is nothing in this record that could support a finding that the Association’s actions amounted to intentional discrimination against Jews. … The majority’s assumption that this case is really about accommodation is possible only if we improperly resolve a disputed factual question against the Blochs on summary judgment. Whether Hallway Rule 1 is supposed to include mezuzot is both a material question and one that is fairly in dispute: both sides have marshaled reasonable arguments for and against the proposition, using common canons of construction. The majority takes this argument as concluded and characterizes Hallway Rule 1 as a facially neutral rule that includes mezuzot to which the Blochs are seeking an exception. This record, however, is not so unequivocal that either we or the district court can decide such a pivotal factual issue on summary judgment.

The majority contends … that the Blochs are not arguing that a seemingly neutral rule was adopted to target an unwanted group, as was the case in Church of Lukumi Babalu Aye, Inc. v. Hialeah,
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 508 U.S. 520, 113 S.Ct. 2217, 124 L.Ed.2d 472 (1993). With respect, and with one minor qualification, I cannot agree. It is true that the original five-part Hallway Rule, which was adopted in 2001 while Lynne Bloch was on the condominium association’s board, was not adopted at that time for this impermissible purpose. The whole point of the Blochs’ case, however, is that the Association, under the guise of “interpreting” the rule in 2004, transformed it from a neutral one to one that was targeted exclusively at observant Jewish residents. Just as the sacrifices proscribed by the ordinance in Lukumi were irrelevant to most inhabitants of the town but a vital part of the Santería religion, so the placing of an object on the doorpost is (as far as anything in this record shows) irrelevant to practitioners of Christianity, Islam, Buddhism, Hinduism, or any other religion, but it is a duty (a mitzvah) for Jews.


The majority argues that Hallway Rule 1 is neutral because it applied not only to mezuzot but also to a wide variety of secular objects (photographs and posters) and objects associated with other religions (crucifixes, Christmas ornaments, and the like). Undoubtedly they are relying on the rule announced in Employment Division v. Smith,
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 494 U.S. 872, 110 S.Ct. 1595, 108 L.Ed.2d 876 (1990), to the effect that the Free Exercise Clause of the First Amendment is not violated by a neutral state law that is not specifically directed at the practitioners of a particular religion and is constitutional as applied to others. But they are overlooking the qualifications the Court noted to Smith
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‘s rule. The Court cautioned that there was “no contention that Oregon’s drug law represents an attempt to regulate religious beliefs, the communication of religious beliefs, or the raising of one’s children in those beliefs....” Id.
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 at 882, 110 S.Ct. 1595. These qualifications came to the fore in Lukumi. Justice Kennedy’s opinion for the plurality discussed Smith at length and explained why it did not control in Lukumi, while the concurring opinion of Justice Scalia (the author of Smith

HYPERLINK "http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=dfa1.0&vr=2.0&FindType=Y&SerialNum=1990064132"
 ) agreed that the laws enacted by the city council in Lukumi were “laws which, though neutral in their terms, through their design, construction, or enforcement target the practices of a particular religion for discriminatory treatment.” 508 U.S. at 557, 113 S.Ct. 2217. In my view, Justice Scalia’s language aptly describes Hallway Rule 1. To the extent that the facts pertaining to the “design, construction, or enforcement” of the law are in dispute, we must of course view them in the light most favorable to the Blochs.

It is thus neither helpful nor accurate to say that the reinterpreted, 2004, version of Hallway Rule 1 is “neutral” and that the Jewish residents are seeking a special accommodation. The Hallway Rule falls outside of Smith because it is not neutral once it is examined beyond its face. Other methods of enforcing the Rule-such as the regime that pertained up until 2004-would achieve the same end without burdening legitimate religious interests. Indeed, the direct regulation of materials on the fronts of doors sufficed until 2004. Lukumi recognized, in the context of the First Amendment, that “[f]acial neutrality is not determinative. The Free Exercise Clause, like the Establishment Clause, extends beyond facial discrimination. The Clause ‘forbids subtle departures from neutrality’ ... and ‘covert suppression of particular religious beliefs.’ ” 508 U.S. at 534, 113 S.Ct. 2217 (citations omitted). A trier of fact could find that Hallway Rule 1 was immaterial to all other residents, and that its sole force and purpose was to discriminate against the Jewish owners. One could say the same thing about a rule forbidding women to wear headscarves in the common areas of the condominium: no one but observant Islamic women would be under a religious duty to do so, and so there would be a fair inference that such a rule intentionally discriminates against persons of one religion even though it appears facially neutral.

III.  The Blochs also relied on 42 U.S.C. § 1982, which provides that “[a]ll citizens of the United States shall have the same right, in every State and Territory, as is enjoyed by white citizens thereof to inherit, purchase, lease, sell, hold, and convey real and personal property.” The Supreme Court has held that “Jews are not foreclosed from stating a cause of action [under § 1982] against other members of what today is considered to be part of the Caucasian race.” Shaare Tefila Congregation v. Cobb,
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 481 U.S. 615, 618, 107 S.Ct. 2019, 95 L.Ed.2d 594 (1987). That said, there is nothing in § 1982 that would call for a different result than the Blochs would achieve under the FHA. They must prove intentional discrimination either way, and so the right to relief under § 1982 rises or falls with the FHA theories.

In my view, the Blochs presented ample evidence to support the denial of the Association’s motion for summary judgment. Their theory under the FHA is a sound one, and their evidence would support a finding of intentional discrimination by the finder of fact. I would therefore reverse and remand for further proceedings.

(  (  (  (  (
DISCUSSION QUESTIONS: BLOCH
32.  How strong is the evidence of intentional discrimination recounted by the defendant.  What is the significance of the discussion of the “pound of flesh”?   Under the reasoning of the majority opinion, would the dissent’s theory of discriminatory enforcement of the “Hallway Rule” state a cause of action?  

33.  What legitimate justifications might the condo assn. have for enforcing the regulation against mezuzot?  Assuming the majority correctly dismissed the intentional discrimination claims, would this be a good case for reasonable accommodations, if they were available under the FHA?  

34.  Under the reasoning of the majority opinion, could there ever be a disparate impact cause of action? Assuming the majority correctly dismissed the intentional discrimination claims, would this be a good case for disparate impact analysis?
(  (  (  (  (
(C) People of All Religions Treated Alike

World Peace Movement of America v. Newspaper Agency Corp.

879 P.2d 253 (Utah 1994)

DURHAM, Justice:  Plaintiff The World Peace Movement of America (“World Peace Movement”) appeals from a Third District Court order dismissing its civil rights action against defendant Newspaper Agency Corporation (“NAC”). … We affirm the district court's order dismissing the civil rights action….


The relevant facts of this case are undisputed. World Peace Movement is an unincorporated religious association led by Israel K. Malupo. NAC is a for-profit corporation that serves as an agent for two privately owned newspapers, the Deseret News and The Salt Lake Tribune. The Deseret News is published by the Deseret News Publishing Company, which is owned by The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints. The Salt Lake Tribune is published by the Kearns-Tribune Corporation. NAC provides circulation, advertising, production, and other services for both newspapers. Each newspaper, however, maintains independent editorial functions and separately decides what it will and will not publish. The publisher of each paper sets guidelines as to the types of advertisements the paper will accept and reserves the right to decline to publish an advertisement on the basis of content. NAC, in its capacity as agent, implements the advertising guidelines established by each publisher.


In September 1990, Malupo attempted to place an advertisement on behalf of World Peace Movement in T.V. Week, the television weekly NAC prints for the Deseret News and The Salt Lake Tribune. T.V. Week contains a blend of feature stories and advertisements, along with schedules for the coming week's television viewing. The group's advertisement contained a brief spiritual message accompanied by a black and white portrait which World Peace Movement describes as “a dark-skinned man with Polynesian features, dressed in biblical garb.”


According to World Peace Movement's beliefs and doctrines, the portrait accurately portrays Jesus Christ “as a mortal about 2,000 years ago.” The purpose of the advertisement was to explain World Peace Movement's teachings and to invite public inquiry into its religious doctrines. By including the portrait in the advertisement, World Peace Movement hoped to convey one of its central tenets-the belief that Jesus Christ had a dark complexion.


While The Salt Lake Tribune agreed to publish the advertisement in its entirety, the Deseret News refused. After receiving the advertisement, NAC employees presented it to Wm. James Mortimer, NAC director and publisher of the Deseret News, for his review. Mortimer agreed to publish the text of the advertisement in the Deseret News' version of T.V. Week, but he refused to print the accompanying portrait. Subsequent letters written from NAC employees to World Peace Movement indicate that Mortimer and the Deseret News found the complete advertisement “unacceptable” because it “was not in good taste and could be offensive to [Deseret News ] readers.” FN1
FN1. NAC claims that Mortimer rejected the complete advertisement because he “interpreted the advertisement as Mr. Malupo presenting himself as Jesus Christ and determined that it was offensive to him and could also be offensive to other readers of the Deseret News.” While the parties make much of this distinction, we find it irrelevant, given our decision today.

NAC informed Malupo of the newspapers' respective positions. Affidavits submitted by NAC indicate, and World Peace Movement does not dispute, that Malupo agreed to this arrangement and approved the advertisements. On September 23, 1990, NAC published the complete advertisement in The Salt Lake Tribune 's version of T.V. Week, while the Deseret News' version carried only the text.


During the ensuing week, World Peace Movement informed NAC that both advertisements contained an incorrect phone number. Although Malupo had inspected and approved the advertisements, NAC agreed to republish them in the newspapers' September 30, 1990, versions of T.V. Week. Thus, as of September 30, 1990, The Salt Lake Tribune had twice published the complete advertisement and the Deseret News had twice published the text of the advertisement.


On October 1, 1990, World Peace Movement attempted to contract with NAC to publish the complete advertisement in both newspapers' T.V. Week. World Peace Movement sought to place the advertisement for twenty-six weeks in full color. However, NAC refused to place the complete advertisement in either newspaper.


NAC's blanket refusal apparently resulted from a change in T.V. Week printing policy. When Malupo first submitted the advertisement, each newspaper provided its subscribers with a different version of T.V. Week. Thus, it was possible for The Salt Lake Tribune to print an advertisement that the Deseret News had rejected. However, in late September or early October, NAC, The Salt Lake Tribune, and the Deseret News revised their printing policies and decided to publish a single version of T.V. Week for both newspapers. Under the new procedure, one newspaper could still accept T.V. Week advertisements that the other rejected, but the accepting newspaper had to pay the additional production costs incurred by NAC. Apparently, NAC refused to publish World Peace Movement's advertisement in The Salt Lake Tribune solely because the Deseret News refused to carry the portrait.


After exchanging several letters concerning the advertisement and NAC's reasons for rejecting it, on April 10, 1992, World Peace Movement filed a religious discrimination lawsuit against NAC under the Utah Civil Rights Act (the “Act”). Utah Code Ann. §§ 13-7-1 to -4 (1992). World Peace Movement's amended complaint, filed May 21, 1992, alleged that NAC unlawfully rejected the advertisement because it “offended or might offend the religious beliefs or ideals of [NAC], the Deseret News and/or some of the readers of the Deseret News.” According to World Peace Movement, this rejection amounted to religious discrimination because it was “based upon the religious content of the ad and the religious message to be conveyed by said ad,” or more specifically, “the picture therein and the religious message to be conveyed by said picture.” World Peace Movement sought a determination and declaratory ruling that NAC's conduct violated the Utah Civil Rights Act, a permanent injunction ordering NAC to cease its discriminatory practices, monetary damages, attorney fees, and court costs.


NAC filed a motion to dismiss that was alternatively fashioned as a motion for summary judgment. World Peace Movement responded with a motion for partial summary judgment. Both parties filed supporting memoranda and affidavits along with their respective motions.


Following oral argument, the district court dismissed World Peace Movement's motion for partial summary judgment and granted NAC's motion to dismiss or alternatively for summary judgment. An October 6, 1992, order reflected the district court's decision.FN2 Although the order did not provide detailed findings of fact, it indicated that the district court had based its decision on “the reasons articulated in Defendant NAC's memoranda.” NAC subsequently filed a request for actual and necessary expenses pursuant to subsection 13-7-4(d) of the Act. The district court awarded NAC the sum of $17,047, consisting of $17,037 in attorney fees and $10 in court costs.

FN2. Although the district court's order purported to grant a “motion to dismiss,” NAC's supporting memorandum contained material outside the pleadings. When affidavits and/or other evidence is presented in conjunction with a motion to dismiss under rule 12(b)(6) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, the motion is generally treated as a motion for summary judgment pursuant to rule 56. See Utah R.Civ.P. 12(b), 56(c); Warren v. Provo City Corp.,
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 838 P.2d 1125, 1127 n. 2 (Utah 1992); Johnson v. Morton Thiokol, Inc.,
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 818 P.2d 997, 999 (Utah 1991). Thus, both NAC's motion and the district court's order are properly viewed as involving summary judgment.

World Peace Movement appeals both district court orders to this court. We note that the issues presented are questions of first impression.


Summary judgment is appropriate when there are no genuine issues of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Utah R.Civ.P. 56(c); Winegar v. Froerer Corp.,
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 813 P.2d 104, 107 (Utah 1991). In reviewing the trial court's ruling, we view the facts and all reasonable inferences arising therefrom in the light most favorable to the losing party. Id. Because a challenge to summary judgment presents for review only questions of law, we accord no deference to the trial court's conclusions but review them for correctness. Schurtz v. BMW of N. Am., Inc.,
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 814 P.2d 1108, 1111-12 (Utah 1991).


On appeal, World Peace Movement clarifies the nature of its religious discrimination claim. In essence, it argues that religious discrimination is unique among civil rights claims in that an individual's religion often cannot readily be surmised from that individual's appearance. Thus, before a business establishment can discriminate on religious grounds, it must somehow be “tipped-off” as to the individual's religious beliefs. World Peace Movement contends that its advertisement provided NAC with that information.


According to World Peace Movement, NAC decided to discriminate against the group after Mortimer inspected the advertisement and learned that World Peace Movement believed Jesus Christ had a dark complexion. Again, this belief is a central tenet of their religion. Thus, World Peace Movement argues that in refusing its publishing services on the basis of the advertisement's depiction of Jesus Christ, NAC discriminated against its members on the basis of their religious convictions in violation of section 13-7-3 of the Act.


NAC defends its conduct on both statutory and constitutional grounds. At the statutory level, it argues that World Peace Movement's claims must be dismissed because NAC's conduct did not violate the Act.FN3 NAC claims that it did not unlawfully discriminate against members of World Peace Movement because of their religion. Rather, it contends that as the Deseret News' agent, it simply exercised editorial discretion and refused to accept World Peace Movement's advertisement on the basis of content. NAC insists that “[a]nyone else presenting an advertisement with similarly-offensive content would have been treated similarly.” Thus, NAC asserts that no unlawful discrimination occurred.

FN3. NAC's brief also insists that NAC is exempt from the Act because the “pages of a newspaper” are not “business establishments” or “places of public accommodation” within the meaning of the Act. However, NAC's counsel conceded at oral argument that NAC is subject to the Act as a business establishment which provides a service to the public.

At the constitutional level, NAC contends that World Peace Movement's claim is precluded by the free speech and press guarantees of both the state and federal constitutions. Under this argument, NAC relies heavily on Miami Herald Publishing Co. v. Tornillo,
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 418 U.S. 241, 257-58, 94 S.Ct. 2831, 2839-40, 41 L.Ed.2d 730 (1974), which held unconstitutional a state statute granting political candidates a “right of reply” in newspapers that have assailed their personal characteristics or official record, along with other federal case law for two corollary propositions: (1) an advertiser has no constitutional right of access to a private newspaper; and (2) government cannot compel a private newspaper to print or refuse to print any material, without violating article I, section 15 of the Utah Constitution FN4 and the First Amendment to the United States Constitution.FN5 NAC points out that free speech and free press guarantees “include[ ] both the right to speak freely and the right to refrain from speaking at all.” Wooley v. Maynard,
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 430 U.S. 705, 714, 97 S.Ct. 1428, 1435, 51 L.Ed.2d 752 (1977). Adopting World Peace Movement's position, concludes NAC, will unconstitutionally grant prospective advertisers a right of access to private newspapers, compelling newspapers to publish advertisements which they deem offensive or to “speak” when they choose to refrain.

FN4. This provision states in pertinent part, “No law shall be passed to abridge or restrain the freedom of speech or of the press.” Utah Const. art. I, § 15.

FN5. The First Amendment to the United States Constitution states in pertinent part, “Congress shall make no law ... abridging the freedom of speech, or of the press.” U.S. Const. amend. I.


World Peace Movement responds to NAC's constitutional arguments by asserting that neither article I, section 15 nor the First Amendment shields NAC's conduct. Relying on KUTV, Inc. v. Conder,
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 668 P.2d 513, 521 (Utah 1983), which recognized that article I, section 15 does not create an absolute right that defeats all other freedoms and interests protected by the Utah Constitution, and Pittsburgh Press Co. v. Pittsburgh Commission on Human Relations,
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 413 U.S. 376, 389, 391, 93 S.Ct. 2553, 2560-61, 2562, 37 L.Ed.2d 669 (1973), which upheld an ordinance prohibiting newspapers from listing “help-wanted” advertisements in sex-designated columns, World Peace Movement notes that government may infringe on newspapers' free speech and free press rights when a compelling state interest, such as eradicating religious discrimination, is at stake. Thus, World Peace Movement concludes that the Utah Civil Rights Act lawfully circumscribes NAC's article I, section 15 and First Amendment rights.

1.  Interpreting the Utah Civil Rights Act.  [1]
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[2] Although the parties urge myriad constitutional claims and defenses upon us, “[i]t is a fundamental rule that this Court should avoid addressing constitutional issues unless required to do so.” State v. Anderson,
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 701 P.2d 1099, 1103 (Utah 1985). Accordingly, we first examine the parties' statutory claims. Because we conclude that World Peace Movement does not have a cognizable claim under the Act, we do not reach the parties' constitutional arguments.


The operative language in this case is “[a]ll persons ... are entitled to full and equal ... services ... without discrimination on the basis of ... religion.” Utah Code Ann. § 13-7-3.FN6 The Act generally prohibits business establishments and other covered entities from discriminating against “persons” based on certain suspect classifications, including religion. See id. §§ 13-7-1, -3. The Act guarantees to individuals who fall within these suspect classifications full and equal access to the goods, services, facilities, etc., offered by business establishments and other covered entities.

FN6. Section 13-7-3 states in its entirety:

All persons within the jurisdiction of this state are free and equal and are entitled to full and equal accommodations, advantages, facilities, privileges, goods and services in all business establishments and in all places of public accommodation, and by all enterprises regulated by the state of every kind whatsoever, without discrimination on the basis of race, color, sex, religion, ancestry or national origin. Nothing in this act shall be construed to deny any person the right to regulate the operation of a business establishment or place of public accommodation or an enterprise regulated by the state in a manner which applies uniformly to all persons without regard to race, color, sex, religion, ancestry, or national origin; or to deny any religious organization the right to regulate the operation and procedures of its establishments.

Utah Code Ann. § 13-7-3.

[3] We conclude from this language that the Act prohibits NAC from denying its advertising services on the basis of the religion of the person seeking those services. Nevertheless, under the plain language of the Act, a publisher may discriminate on the basis of content even when content overlaps with a suspect classification like religion. For example, a Jewish-owned and -operated newspaper which serves a primarily Jewish community might lawfully refuse advertisements propagating anti-Semitic “religious” sentiments. However, that same newspaper could not single out members of an anti-Semitic religious group and refuse to accept advertisements, regardless of content, from any member of that group simply because they are a member of that group. Such discrimination, which is directed at the individual seeking to place the advertisement rather than at the content of the advertisement, is prohibited by the Act.FN7
FN7. Our interpretation of the Act is consistent with California's construction of the Unruh Civil Rights Act. See Cal.Civ.Code §§ 51, 51.5 (West 1982 & Supp.1994). For example, in Pines v. Tomson,
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 160 Cal.App.3d 370, 206 Cal.Rptr. 866 (1984), the defendant publisher appealed a trial court's order granting the plaintiff relief under the Unruh Civil Rights Act. The appellate court upheld that part of the trial court's order which enjoined the publisher “from refusing advertisements on the ground the person attempting to place an advertisement is not, or will not affirm that he, is a ‘born-again’ Christian.” Id.
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 at 877 (emphasis added). The appellate court further stated that the order “merely requires [publishers] to act in a non-discriminatory manner toward all prospective advertisers.” Id.
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 at 878 (second emphasis added); see also Cyntje v. Daily News Pub. Co.,

HYPERLINK "http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=dfa1.0&vr=2.0&DB=345&FindType=Y&ReferencePositionType=S&SerialNum=1982151103&ReferencePosition=405"
 551 F.Supp. 403, 405 (D.V.I.1982) ( “So long as such a refusal [to publish an advertisement] is not ... based on an ... invidiously discriminatory classification among those seeking to place advertisements, a publication cannot ... be compelled to print or to disseminate a paid advertisement.” (emphasis added)).

[4] The Act, however, does not prohibit “discrimination” against religious beliefs, ideas, or sentiments standing alone, apart from the persons who hold and profess them. World Peace Movement appears to be entirely correct in its assertion that NAC refused to print its advertisement because of its religious message that Jesus Christ had a dark complexion. Nevertheless, it was the message itself that NAC rejected, not its proponents. NAC would have refused to print the advertisement had it been offered by any person of any religion. This conduct was not a denial of services to a person on the basis of religion within the meaning of the Act. In fact, the Act expressly permits NAC to establish and enforce such uniform editorial standards. See Utah Code Ann. § 13-7-3.


Furthermore, World Peace Movement does not allege that NAC refused to accept other advertisements, whether or not religious in nature, submitted by World Peace Movement members. NAC simply rejected this particular advertisement on the basis of content. As the situation stands, World Peace Movement, like any other person or entity, is free to purchase advertising from NAC subject to NAC's editorial judgment.FN8
FN8. This interpretation of the Act comports with the general principle that we construe statutes to avoid running afoul of constitutional prohibitions. See State v. Wood,
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 648 P.2d 71, 82 (Utah), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 988, 103 S.Ct. 341, 74 L.Ed.2d 383 (1982). As the United States Supreme Court clearly reaffirmed in Miami Herald Publishing Co. v. Tornillo,
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 418 U.S. 241, 94 S.Ct. 2831, 41 L.Ed.2d 730 (1974), a newspaper's exercise of editorial control and judgment is a constitutionally protected process:

A newspaper is more than a passive receptacle or conduit for news, comment, and advertising. The choice of material to go into a newspaper, and the decisions made as to limitations on the size and content of the paper, and treatment of public issues and public officials-whether fair or unfair-constitute the exercise of editorial control and judgment. It has yet to be demonstrated how governmental regulation of this crucial process can be exercised consistent with First Amendment guarantees of a free press as they have evolved to this time.

 Id.
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 at 258, 94 S.Ct. at 2840 (footnote omitted). Under our construction of the Act, NAC's constitutional right to exercise editorial discretion over content simply does not conflict with the individual rights granted by the Act.
(  (  (  (  (
DISCUSSION QUESTIONS: WORLD PEACE MOVEMENT

35.  Is the court’s distinction between content-based and person-based religious discrimination convincing? Is the analogy to the Jewish newspaper a good one?

36.  Should the result be different if editorial rights of a newspaper are not involved?  Could a restaurant operated by the Church of Latter Day Saints exclude Malupo if he were wearing a t-shirt with the same picture on it?
(  (  (  (  (
Savanna Club Worship Service, v. Savanna Club Homeowners' Ass'n,

456 F.Supp.2d 1223 (S.D.Fla. 2005)

MIDDLEBROOKS, District Judge.  … This suit involves the question of the relationship between a homeowners' association's right to control activities within its community and the Federal Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. 301 et seq., and the Florida Fair Housing Act., 760.20 et seq. ( hereinafter referred to jointly as the “FHA”).FN1 The Savanna Club Worship Service, Inc. (the “Club”) is a religious organization comprised of individual homeowners in the Savanna Club home community (“Savanna”). The gravamen of the Complaint is that the Club has historically conducted its religious services in Savanna's club house or common areas, but that the Savanna Homeowner's Association (the “Association”) recently adopted a rule which disallows anyone from conducting “religious services” in any of Savanna's common areas (the “Rule”). The Club alleges that the Rule discriminates against the Club based upon religion and, therefore, violates the FHA. …
FN1. Under Florida law, discrimination covered under the Florida Fair Housing Act is the same discrimination as is prohibited under the Federal Fair Housing Act.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND.  The following facts are undisputed. The Association is a non-profit corporation organized under the laws of the State of Florida and governed by Florida's Homeowner's Association Act, Fla. Stat. 720.301, et seq. Its membership consists of individual Savanna homeowners. The Club is a non-profit Florida corporation, organized by various homeowners. Its purpose is to provide worship services for residents of the Association's community. The Club is not itself a homeowner in the community, nor a member of the Association. Until sometime in mid 2004, the Club conducted its religious services within Savanna's club house or other common areas.


The Association received numerous complaints from its non-Club members regarding the use of Savanna's common areas for religious services. One of the reasons for the complaints was that such usage was contrary to the areas' stated purpose of being “devoted to the common use, recreation and enjoyment of the members of the Association.” The Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions for Savanna provides that “[t]he areas designated as [common] areas ... shall be used for no other purpose than as open and recreational areas.” After receiving the complaints, the Association conducted a straw poll of the residents, and determined that the majority of residents did not like the common areas being used for religious services. Accordingly, in July of 2004, the Association adopted the Rule being challenged here which stated that “No portion of the common areas of Savanna Club may be used for any religious service.” The rule took effect on or about August 14, 2004 and has been recorded into the Public Records for St. Lucie County.

Prior to enacting the Rule, the Association had permitted the Club to hold its meetings in various Savanna common areas for the specific purpose of conducting religious services. After Association enacted the Rule, the Club … stopped holding its religious services in the common areas. It is undisputed that the Association has uniformly and equally applied this Rule to all religious groups. …
Analysis.  Both Parties agree that the only issue before the Court is whether or not the Rule, which is equally enforced against all religions, violates the FHA. Specifically, does Savanna's religion-based prohibition violate 42 U.S.C. 3604(b), which provides, in pertinent part, that it is unlawful “[t]o discriminate against any person in the terms, conditions, or privileges of sale or rental of a dwelling, or in the provision of services or facilities in connection therewith, because of race, color, religion, sex, familial status, or national origin?” …

Discrimination claims under the FHA are subject to the Title VII McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, burden-shifting analysis. 411 U.S. 792, 93 S.Ct. 1817, 36 L.Ed.2d 668 (1973); Massaro v. Mainlands Section 1 & 2 Civic Ass'n., Inc.,
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 3 F.3d 1472, 1476 n. 6 (11th Cir.1993); Secretary, HUD on Behalf of Herron v. Blackwell,
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 908 F.2d 864, 870 (11th Cir.1990); Mitchell v. Shane,
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 350 F.3d 39 (2nd Cir.2003). Under this test, a plaintiff first bears the burden of establishing that the defendant has engaged in discrimination. Once that is done, the burden then shifts to the defendant to establish a legitimate non-discriminatory business reason for taking the action. If the defendant comes forth with such reason, then the burden returns to the plaintiff to establish that the defendant's reason is merely a pretext. Id.

Adapted to the facts in this case, this standard requires the Club to establish: (1) that it is an aggrieved party; (2) that it has suffered an injury because of the alleged discrimination; and (3) that, based on religion, it was denied provision of services protected by the FHA which were available to other homeowners. See Secretary, HUD,
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 908 F.2d at 870; Landesman v. Keys Condominium Owners Association,
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 2004 WL 2370638 (N.D.Cal.2004). As discussed earlier, the Club has established that it is an aggrieved party. It also has established that the Club has in fact suffered an injury. It's claim must fail, however, because it has not established the third prong-that it was denied access to use of facilities or common areas available to other homeowners based upon religion as contemplated by the FHA.


None of the Club's homeowners have been denied access to Savanna's common areas. Rather, they have been denied permission to use the common areas to conduct their religious services. Just as clear is the fact that no other homeowner is permitted to conduct their religious services within Savanna's common areas. Applying the reasoning of the majority of Courts that have considered post-acquisition discrimination, their interpretation of the FHA's policy as being intended to provide access to housing, and further applying the relevant HUD Regulation and the few cases finding access to planned community facilities an incident of ownership, the Court finds that the FHA only applies to those deprivations in the provision of services which cause a complete denial of access to such services. The Application of a Rule barring all religious services from a community's common areas without impeding a homeowner's right to practice his or her religion, and without denying access to the common areas for all other purposes is not sufficient to established that the club is being treated differently from persons of other religions.


The fact that it is more desirable or easier for Club members to practice their religion in Savanna's common areas, does not make their current or future homes unavailable as contemplated by the FHA. See Tenafly Eruv Ass'n., Inc. v. Borough of Tenafly,
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 309 F.3d 144 (3rd Cir.2002). In Tenafly, orthodox Jewish plaintiffs wanted to construct an eruv.FN17 The court held that the FHA does not protect against Rules which merely make living in an area less desirable. I believe that expanding the FHA as the Club suggests is unwarranted, and could “create an FHA claim in every circumstance where a religious group is denied a request to use ... property to make an area more appealing for the private practice of their religion.” Id. The Court finds that the challenged Rule does not make the Club's homes unavailable as contemplated by the FHA. Accordingly, the Court finds that it is unlikely that the challenged Rule violates the FHA's discrimination in the provision of services provision, and that summary judgment is appropriate.

FN17. A symbolic border around a neighborhood. The border is created by attaching religiously significant items called lechis to utility poles surrounding the neighborhood. Orthodox Jews are ordinarily prohibited from engaging in pushing or carrying items outside the home on the Sabbath. Within the eruv, orthodox jews are considered “inside the home” for observance purposes and therefore permitted to push items such as wheelchairs which enables disabled members to attend services.


[5] However, even if it could fairly be said that the challenged Rule discriminates based on religion under the FHA, the claim must still fail. If a plaintiff establishes a prima facie case of discrimination, then the burden shifts to the defendant to offer a legitimate non-discriminatory reason for the conduct. So, even if the Club could establish the discrimination prong of the McDonnell Douglas test, the Association has come forth with a legitimate business reason for enacting the Rule. The Parties in their Joint Pre-Trial Stipulation agreed that the challenged Rule was adopted for numerous reasons including repeated complaints about the use of the common areas from non-Club Association members, various violations of the existing Rules and regulations including the use by non-Association members who attended the Worship Services of common areas and parking, violations of the Associations governing documents. FN18 At the hearing, additional reasons were articulated and listed reasons were further explained. The members of the club each have a right to use the common areas. All of the members have that right and have to pay a yearly fee for that right. The Club has a large membership and has impeded the rights of other members in their enjoyment of their facilities. The right to religious freedom must encompass the right to be free from religion. In this case, the Associations' members voted 714 to 434 to prohibit religious services in their common areas. Given these facts as well as the contractual quid pro quo nature of home ownership involved which requires acting with the majority good in mind, the Court finds that the Association has met its burden of setting forth a legitimate non-discriminatory basis for enacting the Rule.

FN18. Article IV of the Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions for the Association provides that the “areas designated as open or recreational areas on the general plan of development shall be used for no other purpose than as open and recreational areas.”


This means that the burden is now upon the Club to establish that the articulated reasons are in fact a pretext for discrimination. The record is devoid of any evidence suggesting such a finding. Accordingly, the Court finds that the Club's claim must fail.


[6] The Court now addresses one more aspect of the Club's claim in which they appear to assert that in applying traditional Title VII analysis as required, the Association has a duty to make a reasonable accommodation for it. In other words, the Association has failed to make a reasonable accommodation to the Club so that it can practice its religion, and that this is discrimination.


The difficulty with this is, however, that the FHA, unlike Title VII, imposes no “reasonable accommodation” requirement in the context of religious discrimination. Under Title VII it is an illegal employment practice to discriminate against an employee unless an employer demonstrates that he is “unable to accommodate ... [the] religious observance or practice without undue hardship on the conduct of [his] business.” 42 U.S.C.2000e(j). The only “reasonable accommodation” requirement is found in the portion of the Act addressing discrimination against the handicapped. That section provides, in pertinent part, that “it shall be unlawful ... to discriminate in the sale or rental, or to otherwise make unavailable or deny, a dwelling ... because of a handicap .... For the purposes of this subsection, discrimination includes ... a refusal to make reasonable accommodations in Rules, policies, practices or services, when such accommodations may be necessary to afford such person equal opportunity to use and enjoy a dwelling.” 42 U.S.C. 3604(f)(3)(B)(emphasis added).


Section 3604(f) was added in 1998 by PL 100-430, 1988 HR 1158. Congress would not have needed to insert the reasonable accommodation language into section 3604(f) if it had already been encompassed by 3604(b). Nor would it have specified that a failure to make a reasonable accommodation by reason of handicap would constitute discrimination. The Court will not construe subsection 3604(f) to be mere surplusage. Rather, the Court holds that by omitting any such reasonable accommodation language from subsection 3604(b), Congress intended that there be no such requirement in the context of religious discrimination. See Gourlay,

HYPERLINK "http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=dfa1.0&vr=2.0&DB=4637&FindType=Y&ReferencePositionType=S&SerialNum=2003568015&ReferencePosition=1233"
 276 F.Supp.2d at 1233.


After thorough consideration and for the reasons set forth above, the Court finds that the challenged Rule applying equally to all religions is not a violation of the FHA. 

DISCUSSION QUESTIONS: SAVANNA CLUB

37.  The court says there was no evidence of pretext in this case.  If you had represented the claimants, what kind of evidence of pretext would you have tried to find?  Would the religious breakdown of the association be relevant? 

38. Could you bring a disparate impact claim on these facts based on the notion that a policy that is facially neutral as between religions, in practice hurts some religions more than others?  
39.  If the association’s had to defend a disparate impact or accommodations claim, a court would need to assess its reasons for enacting the rule.  What kinds of complaints by other residents would be helpful to its position?  What kinds of complaints would not be?
(  (  (  (  (
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